Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Review

Environment International



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envint

A review of the ecological effects of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF)

S. Cucurachi ^{a,*}, W.L.M. Tamis ^a, M.G. Vijver ^a, W.J.G.M. Peijnenburg ^{a,b}, J.F.B. Bolte ^b, G.R. de Snoo ^a

^a Institute of Environmental Sciences (CML). Leiden University. P.O. Box 9518, 2300 RA Leiden. The Netherlands

^b National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), Bilthoven, The Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 June 2012 Accepted 24 October 2012 Available online 20 December 2012

Keywords: Radiofrequencies EMF Biodiversity Electromagnetic field exposure Ecological effect Mobile telecommunication

ABSTRACT

Objective: This article presents a systematic review of published scientific studies on the potential ecological effects of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF) in the range of 10 MHz to 3.6 GHz (from amplitude modulation, AM, to lower band microwave, MW, EMF). *Methods:* Publications in English were searched in ISI Web of Knowledge and Scholar Google with no restriction on publication date. Five species groups were identified: birds, insects, other vertebrates, other organisms, and plants. Not only clear ecological articles, such as field studies, were taken into consideration, but also biological articles on laboratory studies investigating the effects of RF-EMF with biological endpoints such as fertility, reproduction, behaviour and development, which have a clear ecological significance, were also included. *Results:* Information was collected from 113 studies from original peer-reviewed publications or from relevant

existing reviews. A limited amount of ecological field studies was identified. The majority of the studies were conducted in a laboratory setting on birds (embryos or eggs), small rodents and plants. In 65% of the studies, ecological effects of RF-EMF (50% of the animal studies and about 75% of the plant studies) were found both at high as well as at low dosages. No clear dose–effect relationship could be discerned. Studies finding an effect applied higher durations of exposure and focused more on the GSM frequency ranges.

Conclusions: In about two third of the reviewed studies ecological effects of RF-EMF was reported at high as well as at low dosages. The very low dosages are compatible with real field situations, and could be found under environmental conditions. However, a lack of standardisation and a limited number of observations limit the possibility of generalising results from an organism to an ecosystem level. We propose in future studies to conduct more repetitions of observations and explicitly use the available standards for reporting RF-EMF relevant physical parameters in both laboratory and field studies.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction |
|----|---|
| | 1.1. Scope |
| | 1.2. Problem definition |
| | 1.3. Research focus |
| 2. | Review method |
| | 2.1. Criteria of literature search |
| | 2.2. Description of the literature search |
| | 2.2.1. Main search strategy |
| | 2.2.2. Related-references search |
| 3. | General overview of results |
| 4. | Ecological effects of RF-EMF |
| | 4.1. Birds |
| | 4.1.1. Laboratory studies |
| | 4.1.2. Field studies |
| | 4.1.3. Summary |

Abbreviations: ELF-EMF, extremely low field electromagnetic field; CW, continuous wave; MW, microwave; PW, pulsed wave; GSM, global system for mobile communications; UHF, ultra-high frequency; VHF, very-high frequency; DECT, digital enhanced cordless telecommunications; UWB, ultra wide band; AM, amplitude modulation; FM, frequency modulation; GTEM, gigahertz transverse electromagnetic cell; UMTS, universal mobile telecommunications system; CDMA, code division multiple access; TDMA, time division multiple access; WCDMA, wideband code division multiple access; Wi-Fi, Wireless Fidelity; WLAN, wireless local area network; WiMAX, worldwide interoperability for microwave access.

Corresponding author. Tel.: +31 71 527 1478.

E-mail address: cucurachi@cml.leidenuniv.nl (S. Cucurachi).

^{0160-4120/\$ -} see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.10.009

| | 4.2. | Insects |
|------|----------|--|
| | | 4.2.1. Honey bees (A. mellifera) |
| | | 4.2.2. Fruit flies (<i>D. melanogaster</i>) |
| | | 4.2.3. Effect on other insects |
| | | 4.2.4. Summary |
| | 4.3. | Other vertebrates |
| | | 4.3.1. Summary |
| | 4.4. | Other organisms |
| | | 4.4.1. Summary |
| | 4.5. | Plants and yeasts |
| | | 4.5.1. Summary |
| 5. | Synthe | esis |
| | 5.1. | General |
| | 5.2. | Dose–effect relationships |
| | 5.3. | From biological to ecological mechanisms and effects |
| | 5.4. | Differences between effect and no-effect studies: a possible bias? |
| | 5.5. | Minimum requirements for studies on ecological effects of RF-EMF 135 |
| 6. | Conclu | usions and recommendations |
| Ackr | lowledg | gements |
| Арре | endix A | ч |
| Кеуv | vords fo | pr literature screening |
| Refe | rences | |
| | | |

1. Introduction

1.1. Scope

Anthropocene is a term which has been proposed for the current epoch, due to the global environmental effects of increased human population, and the economic and industrial development and to the deep overall domination and contamination of humans over the environment (Crutzen and Stoermer, 2000; Zalasiewicz et al., 2010). Amongst the many changes, a radical modification has also taken place in the exposure of beings to man-made electromagnetic fields. A continuous, chronic, exposure to a wide range of modulated radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (RF-EMF) burdens all species and groups across the globe.

In terms of mechanisms, the WHO confirms that to date the accepted health effects ascribable to RF-EMF are caused by temperature elevation (van Deventer et al., 2011). Though, several studies have identified possible effects of RF-EMF on organisms, no alternative effect mechanisms have been confirmed to date. Most of the literature has focused on human and occupational health, largely based on animal model studies under laboratory conditions and test subjects exposed to lower frequencies of the spectrum (i.e. extremely low field, ELF-EMF). From the available studies, it became clear that, especially under higher dosages, effects of RF-EMF may be observed. As a response, occupational and human health threshold values and guidelines, proposed by international organisations (ICNIRP, 2010), have been increasingly incorporated into national regulations of states (EU, 2011). However, results are still not conclusive and there is still some uncertainty about the low dosages and non-thermal effects applied in some studies which did find an effect, and the overall quality of the setup of research in the field. The ever increasing use of RF-EMF in the cellular phone ranges (e.g. GSM and UMTS) and the newer forms of wireless communication (e.g. WiFi, WLAN and WiMAX), which are rarely present in the available studies, require new investigations which will look at possible short and long-term effects

Over time several monographs and reviews have been compiled as to the biological effects of RF-EMF on humans, and on animals (see among others: Michaelson and Dodge, 1971; NCRP, 1986; Bryan and Gildersleeve, 1988; Adair, 1990; Verschaeve and Maes, 1998; Juutilainen, 2005; Balmori, 2009; Pourlis, 2009; ICNIRP, 2010). While of great relevance for the understanding of the phenomenon, these studies lack in the consideration of potential effects which may directly affect other organisms or ecosystems, because of the very limited attention which is usually received by the adverse ecological effects of RF-EMF.

1.2. Problem definition

Limited research and reviews have focused on investigating the possible ecological effects of RF-EMF. It can be argued that many humanrelated biological studies using animal models (e.g. rats and rabbits) may provide also relevant information about potential ecological effects. Many ecological endpoints (e.g. fertility, reproduction and growth) studied at the level of the individual animal, are also crucial from an ecological point of view. Ecology is, one of the sub-disciplines of biology, which studies all living organisms (including human beings), at all organisational levels (i.e. from the smallest molecular system to the largest ecosystem levels). Ecology is the scientific study of the distribution and abundance of organisms and the interactions that determine distribution and abundance (Begon et al., 2005). Those interactions refer to the abiotic and the biotic environment. By definition ecology focuses on the higher organisational levels of populations, communities and ecosystems. Despite the lack of information of the ecological effects of RF-EMF, following this definition, it is then plausible to link biological studies with ecological endpoints at the individual animal level to ecological interpretations at a higher organisation level.

This field of research is of crucial importance for the understanding of mechanisms of interaction between complex ecosystems and the environment. Animal studies have still been identified as a major research agenda point by the WHO (Van Deventer et al., 2011). The WHO stated that high priority in the field should be given to research on the effects of RF-EMF on development and behaviour, on ageing and reproduction of animal subjects. The result of these studies might be ecologically interpreted, because they include ecologically relevant endpoints.

As far as strictly ecological research has been conducted, it was mostly presented in the form of non-peer-reviewed *grey literature*. A review of Balmori (2009) is the only oriented one at the effects of RF-EMF on wildlife. However, the contribution by Balmori (2009) has some methodological issues. The criteria for the screening of the literature or the rationale for the inclusion or exclusion of relevant articles have, in fact, not been presented. The review is also missing a detailed analysis of the selected papers (e.g. of the duration of exposure and of the physical parameters) and it includes only studies finding a significant effect of RF-EMF.

1.3. Research focus

Evidence suggests that there is a large lacuna in research regarding the ecological effects of RF-EMF. The aim of this contribution is to conduct a scientifically sound review of potential ecological effects of RF-EMF. Using the definition and guidelines provided in the clinical sector by Higgins and Green (2006), a systematic review on potential ecological effects of RF-EMF was performed.

The study focuses on the range from 10 MHz to 3.6 GHz (i.e. from AM to the lower band MW EMF), using a transparent, comprehensive and objective substantive review approach and analysis of the available scientific literature on the ecological effects of RF-EMF. The literature search was based on a clear and objective research strategy (see Section 2) performed which used two databases: ISI Web of Knowledge and Google Scholar. The experimental, physical and biological parameters, which were provided by the selected papers were classified and analysed to look for trends and possible links between dosages and effects.

Papers evaluating ecological endpoints as part of biological investigations were selected with a focus on higher organisational biological levels: ecosystem, community, and species. As much as possible also biological studies, present in biological reviews or in relevant papers, if relevant from an ecological point of view, were included in this review and analysed.

A complete review of the biological literature was beyond the scope of this paper. However, laboratory studies on animals and plants which investigated biological endpoints can still provide information relevant for the ecological level.

First in Section 2 the methods are described, in Section 3 the general results are presented, and in Section 4 the specific results are given for each of the analysed groups (i.e. birds, insects, other vertebrates, other organisms, and plants). The final sections (Sections 5 and 6) provide a synthesis, with possible links between dose–response relationship, the setup and dosage of the studies, together with general conclusions and recommendations.

2. Review method

2.1. Criteria of literature search

The literature research was conducted, in the second half of 2011, using ISI Web of Knowledge and Google Scholar databases. Publications on ecological effects of RF-EMF on all relevant endpoints on non-human organisms and parts of organisms (e.g. tissues and cells) were taken into consideration Additional scientific articles published after December 2011 were added upon indication and suggestion of experts.

In order to maintain a high scientific standard for this review paper, only publications which were peer reviewed were considered. As criterion for peer review, the presence of the publication in the ISI Web of Knowledge was used. As for papers present only on Google Scholar an expert selection was made based on the ecological relevance and quality of the studies. The criteria used were based on quality criteria defined by relevant methodological reviews (Repacholi and Cardis, 1997; Stam, 2010). Repacholi and Cardis (1997) suggest that reviews should take into consideration only literature published in scientific peer-reviewed journals to guarantee a selection of articles free from methodological deficiencies and with rigorous analysis and conclusions. They also suggest care when dealing with peer-reviewed reports not published in scientific journals as well as conference abstracts, which are usually not peer-reviewed. In this review, only peer-reviewed papers have been selected. In a limited number of cases peer revision could not be guaranteed: the case of a study conducted by Harst et al. (2006) on honey bee (Apis mellifera), where no sufficient information could be found on the review procedure of the relative journal, and the studies by Van Ummersen (1961, 1963), Carpenter et al. (1960), and Clarke (1978) which were reported by the (peer-reviewed) review by Bryan and Gildersleeve (1988).

The literature search was limited to the range of frequencies from 10 MHz to 3.6 GHz. Papers on the biological and ecological effects of ELF-EMF in the range of 1 Hz–100 kHz (e.g. power line fields) were not considered. Date of publication was not used as a restriction and all publications falling within the selection criteria above were analysed, including those which did not find significant effects.

The keywords used in the literature research process are reported in the appendix to this review. Two main categories were defined: *RF-EMF specific* keywords (e.g. GSM, DECT and 1800 MHz) and *ecological* keywords (e.g. growth, population and eco*).

2.2. Description of the literature search

2.2.1. Main search strategy

A step-wise search strategy was conducted to find the most relevant articles in the RF-EMF range selected.

As a first step, the literature research was conducted on the ISI Web of Knowledge website, which provided 451,031 hits. Since this number of articles was too large to handle, a selection process was started. The collection was further refined by selecting only articles, reviews and proceeding papers as document types (440,528 hits). Then specific categories were selected: applied physics, cell biology, plant sciences, environmental sciences, biophysics, zoology, ecology, biology and microbiology. The number of hits was so reduced to 98,620.

In order to reduce the number of hits, all the results clearly outside the RF-EMF field of research, or beyond the scope of this review were excluded. This process reduced the number of hits further to 90,408 hits. A further screening was conducted selecting keywords from the RF-EMF specific and from the ecological defined groups, using one or two of RF-EMF keywords singularly or in combination with a single keyword from the ecological group. The obtained results ranged from 10 hits to 600. Titles were then screened one by one to select papers that could be of interest.

An analogous pattern of searches was performed on Google Scholar and only articles that had not yet been found on ISI Web of Knowledge were added. The number of hits for the initial combination of keywords was 3,600,000, and then reduced with an analogous procedure as described in ISI, but with a more attentive look at the content and the source of the selected papers.

After this first step of the searching process, 709 presumably relevant articles were identified. A one-by-one screening of titles and abstract was performed to investigate which papers would meet the defined criteria (e.g. frequency range and biodiversity exposure to RF-EMF). This second screening led to a new selection of 307 papers.

A closer analysis of the content of these 307 selected papers revealed that most of them regarded highly specific and strictly technical *biological* studies (e.g. rat tissues, cell-line studies, neuronal studies and calcium signalling), which were difficult to link directly to ecological effects, and, therefore, discarded. The final selection was reduced to 55 clearly relevant papers.

2.2.2. Related-references search

As a second step, it was decided to proceed by using a selected number of the 57 available articles to create a search based on "related references" to the ones used by their authors. The first articles used were those that clearly met the scope of the review in terms of focus and content: e.g. Balmori (2005), Panagopoulos et al. (2010) and five others. The screening of a total of 4000 hits provided 32 additional relevant hits.

Also a selection of the relevant references was conducted from the four relevant reviews (Bryan and Gildersleeve, 1988; Juutilainen, 2005; Pourlis, 2009; Verschaeve and Maes, 1998) and this resulted in 15 additional articles.

Regular updates were conducted until October 2012 to also include the most recently published relevant literature. After a careful analysis of all gathered information a total of 113 articles was selected and described in detail in the following sections. The total number of experiments carried out in these articles was 152.

3. General overview of results

The biggest share of the articles (c. 90%) involves laboratory studies with biological endpoints with a clear ecological relevance. The remaining part were ecological field studies (Table 1).

Most of the laboratory studies included had growth, development, behaviour and reproduction/fertility as biological endpoints. The endpoints analysed in field studies were behaviour, shift in populations and fertility. In circa 65% of the studies a statistical significant effect of RF-EMF on ecological relevant endpoints has been found (Table 1). There were no clear differences in percentage effects between articles included in reviews or not included in reviews. Development seemed to be less significantly affected in percentage than growth and fertility.

The most represented groups include vertebrates, other than birds (i.e. predominantly rats, mice and rabbits), then birds and plants. Articles which found significant effects of RF-EMF were found more frequently in the case of birds, insects (i.e. mostly honey bees and fruit flies) and plants. The group of other vertebrates (Table 1) was equally distributed among significant and non-significant effects. Effects were significant in all the articles on other organisms.

The type of endpoints studied differed across groups. Fertility was the mostly analysed endpoint for the birds. Growth was affected in all the experiments conducted on plants and other organisms, while it was affected in 25% of the studies on other vertebrates and ca. 40% on the birds. The effects of RF-EMF on behaviour were found in thirteen of the twenty of the studies on other vertebrates and in 85% ca. of the studies on insects.

4. Ecological effects of RF-EMF

4.1. Birds

Birds have been widely used to analyse the environmental significance of exposure to nonionizing radiation. The ability of birds to detect magnetic stimuli has been documented by several studies (see Keeton, 1971; Thalau et al., 2005; Wiltschko and Wiltschko, 1996; Wiltschko et al., 2001). A total of 26 articles was selected from the screened literature with 38 relevant endpoints. With the exception of five field studies, all studies were conducted in a laboratory setting.

Of the 26 studies, 70% have been significantly related to the effect of RF-EMF (Table 1). In most cases the effects studied were growth and fertility and were conducted, until the early nineties, under a continuous microwave system of exposure (i.e. 2450 MHz). The physical parameters usually reported regarded the measured level of power flux density and specific absorption rate (SAR). These parameters were either measured using probes or specific detectors or were based on the information of the manufacturers of the exposure devices.

Chicken (*Gallus domesticus*) and Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix* subsp. *japonica*) represented the most studied experimental system in laboratory studies on birds. Approximately 60% of the laboratory studies considered a system at the embryo or egg stages of development.

4.1.1. Laboratory studies

4.1.1.1. Embryo and egg. In the eighties and early nineties researchers focused on the effects of MW EMF. There was a high level of interest especially in the ranges that would be relevant, at that time, for the possible implementation of new source of renewable power based on the collection of solar energy in space by means of solar power satellites (SPS add to abbreviation list) and its transmission to earth via

Table 1

General overview of effects and no-effects studies across articles types, endpoints and species groups.

General findings of articles

| 8.00 | | |
|--|--------|-----------|
| | | Count |
| Included in review (including 80 articles. | | 113 |
| 4 reviews and 18 articles from these reviews) | | |
| Finding an effect | | 74 |
| Not finding an effect | | 39 |
| Laboratory studies | | 106 |
| Field studies | | 8 |
| Endpoints investigated | | 152 |
| | Effect | No effect |
| Subdivision of articles among species | | |
| Birds | 18 | 8 |
| Insects (including bees, fruit flies and ants) | 15 | 2 |
| Other vertebrates (mostly animal models) | 25 | 25 |
| Other organisms (nematodes, bacteria, etc.) | 4 | 0 |
| Plants | 12 | 4 |
| End points studied in screened articles | | |
| Birds | 20 | 18 |
| Growth | 3 | 4 |
| Development | 4 | 3 |
| Fertility/reproduction | 4 | 8 |
| Behaviour/stress | 3 | 0 |
| Mutation | 4 | 0 |
| Mortality | 0 | 1 |
| Population decline | 2 | 2 |
| Insects | 22 | 3 |
| Growth | - | - |
| Development | 4 | 0 |
| Fertility/reproduction | 9 | 1 |
| Behaviour/stress | 6 | 1 |
| Mutation | - | - |
| Mortality | 0 | 1 |
| Population decline | 1 | 0 |
| Other vertebrates | 35 | 27 |
| Growin | 4 | 1 |
| Development Fortility/reproduction | 9 | Э 11 |
| Peltility/Tepfoduction Pohaviour/stross | 12 | 7 |
| Mutation | 15 | 1 |
| Mortality | 1 | 2 |
| Population decline | - | - |
| Other organisms | 4 | 0 |
| Growth | 2 | 0 |
| Development | _ | _ |
| Fertility/reproduction | _ | _ |
| Behaviour/stress | 2 | 0 |
| Mutation | - | - |
| Mortality | - | - |
| Population decline | - | - |
| Plants | 22 | 2 |
| Growth | 12 | 0 |
| Development | 3 | 0 |
| Fertility/reproduction | 1 | 0 |
| Behaviour/stress | 3 | 1 |
| Mutation | 3 | 1 |
| Mortality | - | - |
| Population decline | _ | _ |

MW EMF (Glaser, 1968; Wasserman et al., 1984). The three more recent studies (Table 2) investigated the typical cellular phones range of frequencies.

All the measured physical parameters varied greatly across studies. The estimated SARs ranged between 0.001 W/kg and 140 W/kg (Kleinhaus et al., 1995; Van Ummersen, 1961), while the duration of the exposure was as little as 9 s (McRee and Hamrick, 1977) with peak values of 45 days (Grigoryev, 2003). The variation which was found for the power density ranged from 4.4×10^{-6} mW/cm² as in Reijt et al. (2007) to 400 mW/cm² measured in Van Ummersen (1961).

| Table 2 |
|--|
| Summary of articles reporting ecological effects of RF-EMF on birds. |

| Reference | Country | Species | Scientific name | Life stage ^a | Type of study ^b | Number of subjects ^c | Duration of exposure | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/ modulation ^d | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^e | SAR [W/kg] ^f | Effect ^g | Effect size ^h |
|------------------------------------|---------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--------------------|------------------------------------|---|----------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Carpenter et al. (1960) | USA | Chicken | Gallus gallus subsp. domesticus | Emb | Lab | n/a ⁱ | 1–15 min | 2450 | MWCW | 200 280 400 | 70 98 140 | Teratogenic effects on the embryo Idem Idem | + |
| Van Ummersen (1961, 1963) | USA | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | 1–15 min | 2450 | MW CW | 200 280 400 | 70 98 140 | Inhibition of growth Idem Idem | + |
| Hills et al. (1974) | Canada | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | 20–300 s; first 2 days of incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 0.2 246 1020 | n/a | Reduced chicken hatchability | + (33%) |
| Giarola and Krueger (1974) | USA | Chicken | As above | Juv | Lab | n/a | 28 days Idem | 880 260 | UHF CW VHF CW | 0.5 0.5 | n/a n/a | Reduced growth rate Reduced growth rate | ++++ |
| Hamrick and McRee (1975) | USA | Japanese quail | Coturnix coturnix subsp. japonica | Emb | Lab | n/a | 24 h | 2450 | MW CW | 30 | 14 | Reduced hatchability, altered/ organ development | _ |
| McRee et al. (1975) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | 57 (4) | 4 h for first 5 days of incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 30 | 14 | Altered development | _ |
| Krueger et al. (1975) | USA | Chicken | As above | Ad | Lab | 5 (5) | 12 weeks | 260 | VHF | 0–1 | n/a | Unaltered fertility, reproduction and hatchability | _ |
| | | | | | | | Idem | 915 | UHF | 1.25 | n/a | Unaltered fertility, reproduction and hatchability | - |
| | | | | | | | idem | 2450 | | 1 | ll/d | and hatchability | - |
| Davidson et al. (1976) | Canada | Chicken | As above | Juv | Lab | n/a | 4.5–6 s | 2450 | MW | 1.043 | n/a n/a | Unaffected egg production Unaltered growth, reproduction, mortality | - |
| McRee and Hamrick (1977) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | First 12 days of incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 5 | 4.03 | Unaltered development | - |
| (1977) Clarke (1978) | USA | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | 34th-60th hr of incubation | 2450 | MW PW (mod. 60 Hz and 12 Hz) | 100 | n/a | Behavioural changes in hierarchy positioning as adults | + |
| Fisher et al. | Canada | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | 4–5 days | 2450 | MW CW | 3.5 | n/a | Early embryonic development | + |
| Cabe and McRee (1980) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | First 12 days of incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 5 | 4.03 | Altered response to behavioural tests as adults | + |
| Inouye et al. (1982) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | First 12 days of incubation | 2450 | MW | 5 | 4.03 | Developmental retardation of Embryos No differences after week 8 | + (7%) - |

| McRee et al. (1983) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | 270 (120) | First 12 days of incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 5 | 4.03 | Reduction in reproductive capacity | + (8%) |
|-----------------------------------|---------|------------------------|--|-----|-------|---------------------------------------|--|----------------|----------------------|---|-------------------|--|---------|
| Wasserman et al. (1984) | USA | Sparrow; junco | Zonotrichia albicollis; Junco hyemalis | Var | Field | 12 flocks (2 flocks) | 20 min; 200 min 20 min | 2450 2450 | MW | 25 100 | 0.85-0.92 Idem | Variation in level of aggression of birds after exposure | + (11%) |
| | | | 5 | | | | 7-10 min | 2450 | | 155 | Idem | | |
| Byman et al. (1985) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Egg | Lab | 30 (90) | 60 min during 17 days incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 20–50 | 0.5 | Unaltered growth or abnormal development | _ |
| Gildersleeve et al. (1987) | USA | Japanese quail | As above | Emb | Lab | 468 (468) | 12 days during incubation | 2450 | MW CW | 5 | 4.03 | Unaltered fertility, reproduction and hatchability | _ |
| Kleinhaus et al. (1995) | Israel | Migratory birds | n/a | n/a | Sim | n/a | n/a | 4–26 | Broadcast station | n/a | 0.001- 0.004 | Unaltered development and population levels | - |
| Bastide et al.(2001) | France | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | 300 (300) | Incubation period | 900 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Increased mortality. Inhibition of normal development | + (53%) |
| Grigoryev (2003) | Russia | Chicken | As above | Emb | Lab | n/a | 21 days | 900 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Increased mortality | + |
| Balmori (2005) | Spain | White stork | Ciconia ciconia | Рор | Field | 60 nests | 2 months | 900–1800 | GSM base station | 0.001477 (mean within 200 m); 7.45093 \times 10 ⁻⁵ (mean farther than 300 m) | n/a | Severe decline in productivity | + (46%) |
| Balmori and Hallberg (2007) | Spain | Sparrow | Passer domesticus | Var | Field | 40 visits (1200 data points) | 3 years and 8 months | 1 MHz– 3000 | GSM to MW | 0.00325 (max); 4.24403×10 ⁻⁵ (mean) | n/a | Decline in bird population and dose–effect relationship found between electric field strength and population decline at specific locations | + (75%) |
| Everaert and Bauwens (2007) | Belgium | Sparrow | As above | Var | Field | 150 locations | 4 months during the breeding period | 925–960 | GSM base station | 4.34589×10 ⁻⁶ | n/a | Significant relationship between number of house sparrows and levels of power density | + (70%) |
| | | | | | | | Idem | 1805– 1880 | GSM base station | 9.07759×10^{-6} | n/a | Idem | |
| Reijt et al. (2007) | Poland | Great tit; blue tit | Parus major; Cyanistes caeruleus | Ad | Field | 72 (42) | 45 days | 1200– 3000 | Radar | 20-50 | n/a | Unaltered fertility and growth | - |
| | | | - | | | | | | | | | Possible shift in species distribution | + (50%) |
| Batellier et al. (2008) | France | Chicken | As above | Egg | Lab | (240) | Incubation period | 900 | GSM | 0.00306- 0.04197 | n/a | Reduced hatchability. Increased Embryo mortality | +(42%)+ |

^a Life stage refers to the age of the tested subject at the moment of the experiment. Emb = embryo, Ad = adult and Egg = egg.

^b Studies divided in laboratory and field studies. Lab = laboratory study and Field = field study.

^c Number of subjects involved in the experiment or field study where reported in the study. In brackets information about number of control subjects.

^d Wave/modulation indicates the type of RF-EMF applied/measured in the study. CW = continuous wave, MW = microwave, PW = pulsed wave GSM = Global System for Mobile Communications, UHF = Ultra-High Frequency, and VHF = Very high frequency.

^e Values of power density are reported as provided by authors or recalculated by conversion of electric field values (PD = EF²/3770) and expressed in mW/cm².

^f Values of SAR are reported as provided by authors and expressed in W/kg.

^g Biological or ecologically relevant endpoints studied.

^h Size of the effect where significant. It indicates the ration between maximum effect and percentual difference compared to control. A + sign indicates a significant effect and a - sign indicates that no significant effect was found. ⁱ n/a indicates that data was not provided by authors. The endpoints included growth, hatchability, development based on evidence of abnormal weight of hatchlings, incidences of abnormalities and mortality. Nine of the 15 experiments showed significant differences between RF-EMF and controlled/sham-exposed eggs.

It is a common opinion among experts (Baranski and Czerski, 1976; Bryan and Gildersleeve, 1988) that the results obtained in most of the studies until the 1980s (i.e. until Inouye et al., 1982 in this selection) relate to increases in the temperature of the egg due to the consequences of hyperthermia a few degrees above normal incubation temperature. An abnormal increase in temperature gradient of 3.5 °C had already been observed in the early study by Van Ummersen (1961, 1963), reported in the review conducted by Bryan and Gildersleeve (1988). In a later study, Byman et al. (1985) found no effect on the growth and normal development of born chicks of birds nesting in proximity to antennas. Temperature rise was controlled and the measured power density was 25 mW/cm². Analogous results were obtained by Gildersleeve et al. (1987) who kept the internal temperature of irradiated and sham-exposed eggs to a mean of 37.5 °C without detecting any deficiency in the reproductive performance of males and females allowed to hatch.

Among the three more recent studies, Bastide et al. (2001) and Grigoryev (2003) found a significant increase in mortality due to RF-EMF on chicken (*G. gallus* subsp. *domesticus*) embryos exposed to RF-EMF emitted by a GSM device during the duration of the incubation period.

Also Batellier et al. (2008) studied the effect of exposure to GSM and UMTS frequencies on chicken eggs over the entire period of incubation. Four replicates with a total 240 eggs each were used in the experiment to assess mortality rates. Results showed an increased mortality of 42.2% for embryos under a regime of controlled temperature, humidity and external EMF. However, it was not possible to establish a proportional relationship between the intensity of the electric field and embryo mortality.

4.1.1.2. Juvenile and adult. Five studies focused on the impact of RF-EMF at a later phase of development of chickens: four studies on juvenile and only one on adult subjects (Table 2). The endpoints studied were growth, fertility, rate of egg production, hatchability and mortality.

The only study which found a significant difference between exposed and control/sham groups is the study by Giarola and Krueger (1974) on juvenile chickens. The authors examined, exposure to very-high frequency (VHF) and ultra-high frequency (UHF), together with investigation of MW EMF. Exposure determined reduced growth of chicks and consumption. In a follow-up study Krueger et al. (1975), did not find effects either on fertility or hatchability with a continuous exposure period of 12 weeks at a power density (calculated) of 1 mW/cm². Experts from the U.S. Department of Energy (1978) attributed the difference in results to the cage used in the first study which may have determined a higher dose of energy absorbed by the target subjects.

4.1.2. Field studies

There were five field studies on the impact of RF-EMF exposure at various frequencies and physical conditions on populations of birds living in areas in the vicinity of cellular phone masts or base-stations. Anomalies and deviations from normality in the behaviour of exposed subjects and in the level of productivity were found in all these studies.

The values of power density provided by studies ranged from 4.4×10^{-6} mW/cm² in the study on sparrows by Everaert and Bauwens (2007) to the highest measured value of 155 mW/cm² in Wasserman et al. (1984). In this last case, exposure caused a steady temperature raise which determined a continuous gaping for the total duration of exposure of the exposed population of sparrows (*Zonotrichia albicollis*) and juncos (*Junco hyemalis*). Values for the SARs were provided only by the study of Wasserman et al. (1984) and ranged from 0.85 to 0.92 W/kg. The endpoints studied were density, reproduction, behaviour and community

composition. In all the studies and experiments conducted, effects of the RF-EMF were found from a variation of 10% to a maximum of 70% compared to control.

Balmori (2005) monitored the variation of a population of white storks (*Ciconia ciconia*) in the vicinity of a GSM base station (i.e. 900–1800 MHz with 217 Hz modulation) in search of possible effects from the exposure. Total productivity within 200 m was on average 46% less than that found at a distance greater than 300 m from the emitting station. An analogous significant difference was found in the breeding success: in 40% more of the cases no new-born chicks were found in the nest.

In another study, Reijt et al. (2007) studied the influence of long term exposure to RF-EMF from radar (200–1300 MHz) on a population of great tits (*Parus major*) and blue tits (*Cyanistes caeruleus*) living around a military radar station. Possible other sources of co-variance (e.g. from human interactions with the location of birds and other pollutants) were not considered in the study. Unlike in the case of Balmori (2005), the exposure seemed not to have affected the number of nesting tits, but the distribution of the different species. The authors state that the results contradict with the study of Balmori (2005), probably because of the exposure of targets to radar MW (i.e. 1200–3000 MHz), instead of mobile phone exposure (i.e. 900–1800 MHz with 217 Hz modulation).

Additionally, Reijt et al. (2007) found that exposed nests were occupied, compared to control, by the less dominant species of tits (blue tit), which would suggest that birds can perceive high frequency RF-EMF as a stressful factor and, thus, would try to avoid nesting in those areas. An average of 50% of the great tits moved from a more exposed section of the study area to a less exposed one: in the interaction with the great tit, the blue tit is usually less dominant according to behavioural studies by Tanner (1966) and Tanner and Romero-Sierra (1974). Therefore, the great tit would move to areas where the power density is lower, and therefore the blue tit would have to nest elsewhere.

Fig. 1 presents a plot of the effect with the relative measured power density, from studies with a significant effect (see Table 2 for details on the studies). It is not possible to define a clear dose–effect relationship, but also at low values of power density strong effects of RF-EMF are found.

4.1.3. Summary

Most studies on birds were laboratory investigations. The target subjects were in the majority of laboratory studies chicken and Japanese quail. Older laboratory studies exposed targets to high level of MW EMF which probably determined an uncontrolled raise in temperature which affected the exposed systems. Amongst the more recent laboratory studies, evidence of an effect of RF-EMF on mortality and development of embryos was in all cases found at both high and low dosages. In all the five field studies found a significant effect of RF-EMF on breeding density, reproduction or species composition. Field observations give a closer representation of real-life exposure, thus RF-EMF, especially in the 900 MHz GSM band could be a certain factor influencing the ecology of birds.

4.2. Insects

Insects are a useful target system for the investigation of RF-EMF because of the limited size, the short life cycle and the possibility of easily detecting developmental defects (Schwartz et al., 1985). It has been demonstrated that insects can sense magnetic fields as a means for navigation and orientation (Abraçado et al., 2005; Kirschvink et al., 2001; Liedvogel and Mouritsen, 2010; Wajnberg et al., 2010; Winklhofer, 2010). Magneto-reception has been associated with the use of ferromagnetic iron oxide particles embedded in tissue or through pairs of molecules with unpaired electrons (known as radical pairs) that are associated with a light sensitive photoreceptor (Ritz et al., 2002; Knight, 2009; Vácha et al. 2009). The exposure to RF-EMF might disrupt



Fig. 1. Size of the ecological effects of RF-EMF on birds related to the power density of exposure. Articles reported in graph: (1) – Hills et al. (1974); (2) – Inouye et al. (1982); (3) – McRee et al. (1975); (4) – Wasserman et al. (1984); (5) – Balmori (2005); (6) – Balmori and Hallberg (2007); (7) – Everaert and Bauwens (2007); (8) – Reijt et al. (2007); (9) – Batellier et al. (2008); (11) – McRee et al. (1975); (12) – Krueger et al. (1975); (13) – Davidson et al. (1976); (14) – McRee and Hamrick (1977); (15) – Byman et al. (1985); and (16) – Gildersleeve et al. (1987). See Table 2 for a complete description of studies. Data is reported for studies from which information could be extracted. The equation of the regression line is y = -0.0078x + 0.2908.

this magneto-reception mechanism, which could in turn affect the survival of insects. The most commonly studied species are the honey bee (*A. mellifera*) and the fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*).

4.2.1. Honey bees (A. mellifera)

Over the past few years, a phenomenon known as Colony Collapse Disorder (CCD) has increased the attention of experts on the survival of colonies of honey bees (Balmori, 2009; Schacker, 2008). The reduction in population of bees worldwide could have serious ecological, economic and, thus, political implications given their role as pollinators. It has been estimated that 15% of wild plant species in Europe (Kwak et al., 1998) and 35% of the global crops produced (Klein et al., 2007) are visited by honey bees. Bees are interesting for this reason from an economic perspective: their economic role has been estimated to be around 153 billion euros in the year 2005 (Gallai et al., 2009). RF-EMF has been classified as one of the possible causes of honey bee colonies collapse (Ratnieks and Carreck, 2010). Even though the interest of media and the public in the effects of exposure of honey bees to mobile communication RF-EMF has drastically increased, there seem to be no thorough body of research into their effects in the scientific literature. As a result, the screening conducted in this contribution identified only eight studies which matched the defined criteria (Table 3), for a total of 12 experiments. Six of the studies focused on the frequency ranges specific to mobile communication and in all cases found a significant relationship between the exposure to the field and the effects studied. Only two of the studies found were not produced in the last decade (Westerdahl and Gary, 1981a,b). These studies were the only ones which did not find any significant effect on flight, orientation of behaviour of bees exposed to CW microwaves (i.e. 2450 MHz) at power densities from 3 to 50 mW/cm².

Among the studies that did find an effect, Sharma and Kumar (2010), Kumar et al. (2011) and Sahib (2011) found a critical reduction of all studied parameters of the exposed colonies of bees as a response to RF-EMF. In all cases, an acute decrease in the breeding performance or even a collapse of the entire colony resulted as a consequence of exposure to RF-EMF. However, the studies provide limited statistical information on the scale of the effect found and did not take into account other confounding parameters (e.g. the placement of the emitting device inside the hive).

The work by Harst et al. (2006) and Kimmel et al. (2007) from a German research group seems to support the previously described findings, but do not provide any statistical measure of the effects found and did not report any system of control or sham-exposure.

Clearer conclusions can be drawn from the study by Favre (2011), which seems to be the most complete and qualitatively interesting contribution. Using sound-analysis techniques, the author investigated the changes that were triggered in the behaviour of a population of honey bees of the carnica group (*Apis mellifera* subsp. *carnica*). The sounds produced by the bees from five healthy and unexposed hives were used as a negative control and compared with recordings made when the same hives were exposed to a mobile phone handset in a calling position. Another inactive mobile phone was placed, at an earlier stage, to investigate the possible disturbing influence of the sheer presence of the tool in the hives. The analysis of the recorded sounds revealed that the bees produced sounds at higher frequency and amplitude after about 25 to 40 min after the communication had started and became quiet when the handset was switched off.

No particular difference in behaviour and sounds was found for exposure to the inactive handsets. The analysis of the sound data revealed that the bees were, in fact, producing the so-called "worker piping", which usually serves as a signal for swarm exodus as a response to danger or stress, thus RF-EMF directly affected the community of bees under exposure.

4.2.2. Fruit flies (D. melanogaster)

The screening of the literature identified five studies on the fruit fly (*D. melanogaster*) for a total of nine experiments (see Table 3). All the available studies found a significant effect. The RF-EMF applied focused on the GSM 900 MHz and GSM 1800 MHz (named also DCS—Digital Cellular System) systems.

RF-EMF power density was measured in the range of 0.0002 to 0.0407 mW/cm², several order of magnitudes lower than those measured in the previously analysed laboratory studies on birds and bees. All the values can be considered typical for digital mobile telephony handsets and in most cases fall within the current exposure criteria (ICNIRP, 1998). Unlike the previous cases, in most studies it was possible to collect information about the magnetic flux density, which ranged from to the time-averaged 0.003 μ T of Panagopoulos et al. (2004) measured for a DCS frequency to 0.09 μ T in the study by Panagopoulos et al.

 Table 3

 Summary of articles on ecological effects of RF-EMF on insects.

| Reference | Country | Life stage ^a | Type of study ^b | Number of subjects (or distances if specified) ^c | Duration | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/modulation ^d | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^e | SAR [W/kg] ^f | Effect ^g | Effect size ^h |
|-----------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|-------------------------------|---|---|--------------------|------------------------------------|---|-------------------------|--|-------------------------------|
| Honevbee (Apis | ; mellifera) | | | | | | | | | | |
| Westerdahl and Gary (1981a) | USA | Adult foragers | Lab | 50(50) bees | 30 min for 10 days | 2450 | MW CW | 3–50 | 0.075-1.25 | No impact of radiation on flight, orientation and homing abilities at any power density | _ |
| Westerdahl and Gary (1981b) | USA | Adult | Lab | 50(50) bees | 30 min for 10 days | 2450 | MW CW | 3–50 | 0.075-1.25 | No differences in longevity between exposed and sham exposed at any power density | - |
| Harst et al. (2006) | Germany | Various | Field | 25 bees selected from 4 colonies | n/a ⁱ | 1900 | DECT base station (mod. 100 Hz) | n/a | n/a | Reduced weight of bees. Colony collapse and abnormalities in behaviour | + (21%) |
| Kimmel et al. (2007) | Germany | Various | Field | 5 at full exposure, 3 at 50% exposure(8) | 4 days, 2 months, 45 min per day | 1800 | DECT (mod. 100 Hz) | n/a | n/a | Change foraging flight | + (14%) |
| Sharma and Kumar (2010) | India | Various | Field | 2(2) colonies | Continuous for 15 min. $2 \times day$, $2 \times$ week, from Feb. to Apr. (11–15 h) | 900 | GSM | 0.0086 | n/a | Decline in colony strength and in the egg laying rate. Decline in the number of returning bees and total number of foragers. Decline in the storing ability of honey | + (62%) (22%) (16%) |
| Favre (2011) | Switzerland | Various | Field | 5 hives | 12 experiments of 40 min | 900 | GSM | n/a | 0.271-0.98 | Effect on behaviour: worker piping signal was observed 25 to 40 min after the onset of the mobile phone | + |
| Kumar et al. (2011) | India | Adult worker | Field | 10(20) bees | 40 min | 900 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Decreased lipid level in the organism of exposed bees. | + |
| Sahib (2011) | India | Various | Field | 3(3) colonies | 10 days, 10 min per day | 900 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Decreased returning ability bees in exposed hives; reduced strength; reduced egg laying rate of queen | + (58%) |
| Fruit fly (Droso | phila melanog | aster) | | | | | | | | | |
| Weisbrot et al., 2003 | USA | n/a | Lab | n/a | 2 times for 60 min with an interval of 4 h, for 10 days | 1900 | GSM PW | n/a | 1.4 (human head) | Irradiation increased the number of off-springs, enhancing reproductive success | + (36% mean; 50% max) |
| Panagopoulos et al. (2004) | Greece | n/a | Lab | n/a | 6 min/day for 5 days | 900 | GSM device (in talk mode) | 0.041 | n/a | Decreased reproductive capacity | + (50%) |
| Panagopoulos et al., 2007 | Greece | n/a | Lab | 2 distances (1 control) | 6 min/day for 6 days | 900 | GSM PW phone antenna | 0.407 (±0.061) | n/a | Decrease of reproductive capacity, seemingly dependent on field intensity more than on frequency | + (41.4% mean; 255.2% max) |
| | | | | | | 1800 | DCS PW phone antenna | 0.283 (±0.043) | n/a | Idem | |
| | Greece | n/a | Lab | | | 900 | | | 0.89 | | |

| Panagopoulos et al., 2010 | | | | 12 distances (1 control) | 6 min/day for 6 days | | GSM CW phone antenna | 0.378 (\pm 0.059; max value at 0 cm from antenna) | | Reproductive capacity decreased at all distances studied at increasing pwoximity to the antenna. A win- dow effect was revealed at dis- tances of 20–30 cm. | + (11% mean; 40.6% max) |
|--|-------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|-----------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|-------|---|------------------------------|
| | | | | | | | | $0.0004 (\pm 0.0001;$ min value at 100 cm from antenna) | Idem | Idem | Idem |
| | | | | | | 1800 | DCS CW phone antenna | $0.252 (\pm 0.05; \text{ max})$ value at 0 cm from | Idem | Idem | Idem |
| | | | | | | | | $0.0002 (\pm 0.0001;$ min value at 100 cm from antenna) | Idem | Idem | |
| Panagopoulos and Margaritis, 2010 | Greece | n/a | Lab | n/a | 1–21 min for 5 days | 900 | GSM PW phone antenna | 0.01 (time averaged; \pm 0.002 at a distance of 30 cm) | 0.795 | Almost linear decrease in reproductive capacity at increasing durations of exposure. | + (49.3% mean; 67.4% max) |
| | | | | | 1–21 min for 5 days | 1800 | DCS PW phone antenna | 0.011 (time averaged; \pm 0.003 at a distance of 30 cm) | 0.795 | Idem | Idem |
| Panagopoulos, 2012 | Greece | n/a | Lab | n/a | 6 min for 5 times | 900 | GSM CW phone antenna | 0.063 | 0.795 | Decreased ovarian size after two exposures. | + (21% mean; 29.5% max) |
| Other insects: to | obacco hornwo | orm (Manduca sex | ta), Americ | an cockroach (Periplan | eta americana), and an | t (Myrmica s | abuleti) | | | | |
| Schwartz et al. (1985) | Canada | Adults exposed at larval stage | Lab | n/a | From larva to pre-pupal stage | 2695 (500 pulse per second) | Anechoic chamber, horn antenna PW | 4 | 23 | Decreased food consumption and larval body weight after 20 days. Deformed adults. Higher mortality. Lower number of laid eggs. | + (50%) (2%) (20%) (23%) |
| Vacha et al. | Czech Republic | n/a | Lab | 11(11 non exposed) | 3 h | 1.2–7 | RF generator | n/a | n/a | Rise in the locomotor activity and disruptive effect at 1.2 MHz | + (14%) |
| Cammaerts et al. (2012) | France | Various life stages | Lab | 6 large naive colonies | Three exposure periods: 4.5 days; 6 days; 1.5 days | 900 | GSM from vector signal generator | 7.95×10^{-5} | n/a | Diminished acquired association between food and a olfactory and visual cues. | + (40%) (42.5%) |

^a Life stage refers to the age of the tested subject at the moment of the performance of the experiment.

^b Studies divided in laboratory and field studies. Lab = laboratory study and Field = field study.

^c Number of subjects involved in the experiment or field study where reported in the study. In brackets information about number of control subjects. Further specifications of type of subjects involved in the studies are reported if provided by authors. In the case of studies regarding the fruit fly the distances applied are reported.

^d Wave/modulation indicates the type of RF-EMF applied/measured in the study. CW = continuous wave, MW = microwave, GSM = Global System for Mobile Communications, and DECT = Digital Enhanced Cordless Telecommunications.

^e Values of power density are reported as provided by authors or recalculated by conversion of electric field values (PD=EF²/3770) and expressed in mW/cm².

^f Values of SAR are reported as provided by authors and expressed in W/kg.

^g Biological or ecologically relevant endpoints studied.

^h Size of the effect where significant. It indicates the ration between maximum effect and percentual difference compared to control. A + sign indicates a significant effect and a - sign indicates that no significant effect was found. ⁱ n/a indicates that data was not provided by authors.

Table 4

Summary of articles on ecological effects of RF-EMF on other vertebrates (than birds).

| Reference | Country | Species (scientific name) | Life stage ^a | Number of subjects ^b | Duration of exposure | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/ modulation ^c | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^d | SAR [W/kg] ^e | Effect ^f | Effect size ^g |
|--|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--------------------|----------------------------------|---|-------------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Chernovetz et al. | USA | Rat (Rattus | n/a ^h | n/a | 11–14 days, 10 min | 2450 | MW CW | 20 | 38 | No effect on development | _ |
| Berman et al. (1978) | USA | Mouse (Mus musculus) | Emb | n/a | 1–17 days, 100 min/day | 2450 | MW CW | 3.4-28 | 2–22 | Reduced foetal weight and hampered development | + |
| Berman et al. (1980) | USA | Rat (as above) | n/a | n/a | 80 h, 4 weeks | 2450 | MW CW | n/a | 5.6 | Transient reduction in fertility | - |
| Jensh et al. (1982) | USA | Rat (as above) | Ad | 12 (59; 4) | 6 h/day (pregnancy period) | 2450 | MW CW | 20 | 5.2 | No changes in development | _ |
| Kowalczuk et al. (1983) | Great Britain | Mouse (as above) | Ad | 50 (50) | 30 min | 2450 | MW PW | n/a | 3.6 44 | Significant effect on reproduction: decreased sperm count, increased | + (35%) (330%) |
| 1 (1000) | | | 4.1 | | 6 44 1 - 241/1 | 100 | Fb (| 25 | 0.4 | abnormal sperm | |
| Lary et al. (1983) | USA | Rat (as above) | Ad | n/a | 6-11 days, 24 h/day | 100 | FM | 25 | 0.4 | Unaltered development | _ |
| Nawrot et al. (1985) | USA | Rat (as above) | Emb | n/a | 6–15 days, 8 h/day | 2450 | MW CW | 30 | 40 | Altered development | + |
| Lebovitz et al. (1987a) | USA | Rat (as above) | n/a | n/a | 6 h/day, 9 days | 1300 | PW (600 Hz pulse) | n/a | 7.7 | production, sperm morphology | - |
| Lebovitz et al. (1987b) | USA | Rat (as above) | n/a | n/a | 8 h | 1300 | CW | n/a | 9 | No effect on reproduction/fertility: testicular function | - |
| D'Andrea et al. (1989) | USA | Rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta) | Juv | 5 (same test group, | 1 session of 60 min per day per 1 week | 1300 | MW PW | 0.92 mean (peak of 0.1318) | 0.09 mean in the head | No change in behaviour as compared to sham-exposed sessions | - |
| | | | | sham-exposed) | | | | | (15 peak in the head) | | |
| Berman et al. (1992) | USA | Rat (as above) | Juv/Ad | 119 (0; 129) | 22 h/day, 18 days (from 1st through 19th day of gestation) | 970 | n/a | n/a | 0.07 | Unaltered development | _ |
| | | | | | | | | | 2.4 | Unaltered development | - |
| | | | | | | | | | 4.8 | Foetal development alterations | + (7%) |
| Lai et al. (1994) | USA | Rat (as above) | Juv | n/a | n/a | 2450 | PW | n/a | 0.6 | Decreased performance in behavioural tasks in T-maze. Deficit in memory function | + (50%) |
| Sherry et al. (1995) | USA | Rhesus monkey (as above) | Ad | 6 (no control or sham-exposed group) | 2 min (7200 pulses) | 100-1500 | MW UWB | 1.65782×10^{7} | 0.5 (whole body | Unaltered behavioural test performance | - |
| Klug et al. (1997) | Germany | Mouse (as above) | Emb | 53 (65) | 36 h | 150 | AM | 0.95491–95.4907 | n/a 0.2 1 | Unaltered growth Idem Idem | _ |
| | | | | | | | | | 5 | Idem | |
| | | | | | | 900 | GSM | 1.33714 | 0.2 1 | Idem Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | | 5 | Idem | |
| Jensh (1997) | USA | Rat (as above) | Juv/Ad | n/a | 6 h/day, 5 days | 915 | GSM CW | 10 | n/a | Unaltered growth | - |
| | | | | | 6 h/day, 5 days | 2450 | MW CW | 20 | n/a | Idem | |
| Magras and Xenos (1997) | Greece | Mouse (as above) | Juv | 36 | 5 pregnancies | 88.5–950 | FM; UHF TV; GSM | 1.053×10 ⁻³ | 1.936×10 ⁻³ | Progressive decrease in the number of newborns per dam leading to irreversible infertility Improved prenatal development parameters | + (76%) + (27%) |
| | | | | | | | | 168×10^{-6} | Idem | Idem | |
| Khillare and Behari (1998) | India | Rat (as above) | Ad | 18 (18) | 2 h/day, 35 days | 200 | AM (mod. 16 Hz) | 1.47 | 1.65–2 | Decreased fertility observed in exposed tests. Unaltered development | + (42%)- |
| Bornhausen and Scheingraber (2000) | Germany | Rat (as above) | Ad | 12(12) | 20 days (pregnancy period) | 900 | GSM (mod. 217 Hz) | 0.1 | 0.75 | Unaltered growth | _ |
| Sienkiewicz et al. (2000) | UK/USA | Mouse (as above) | Ad | n/a | 45 min 10 days | 900 | PW (mod. 217 Hz) | 0.54 | 0.05 | Unaltered learning in the performance of tasks | _ |
| Yamaguchi et al. (2003) | Japan | Rat (as above) | Ad | 168 | 1 h/day for 4 days; 45 min daily for 4 days; 1 h/day for 5 days and 2 days of rest for 4 weeks | 1439 | PW TDMA | n/a | 5.7 1.7 | Unaltered learning abilities in the performance of tasks | - |

| Cassel et al. (2004) | France | Rat (as above) | Ad | n/a | 45 min | 2450 | PW | n/a | 0.6 | Unaltered learning in the performance of tasks | _ |
|------------------------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|------------|--------------------------------------|--|----------|--------------------------|---|-------------------------|---|---|
| Cobb et al. (2004) | USA | Rat (as above) | n/a | n/a | 45 min, 10 days | 2450 | MW PW | n/a | 0.6 | Unaltered brain development and performance of spatial tasks | _ |
| Cosquer et al. (2005) | France | Rat (as above) | Juv | 48 | 45 min | 2450 | PW | n/a | 0.6 | Unaltered performance in spatial tasks | _ |
| Dasdag et al. (2008) | Turkey | Rat (as above) | Ad | 14 (10 control; 7 sham-exposed) | 2 h/day, 7 days/week, 10 months | 900 | PW | 0.02384-0.17561 | 0.07-0.57 | Unaltered fertility | _ |
| Kumlin et al. (2007) | Finland | Rat (as above) | Juv | 18(6) | 2 h/day, 5 days/week, 5 weeks | 900 | PW | n/a | 0.3 (mean value) | Improvement in learning abilities of rats | + (20%) |
| Ribeiro et al. (2007) | Brasil | Rat (as above) | Juv | 16 (8) | 1 h/day, 11 days | 1850 | PW | 1.4 | n/a | Unaltered fertility | - |
| Yan et al. (2007) | USA | Rat (as above) | Ad | 16 | 2 times/day for 3-h periods for 18 weeks | 1900 | CDMA | n/a | 1.8 | Higher incidence of sperm cell death | + (37%) |
| Mathur (2008) | India | Rat (as above) | Juv | n/a | 2 h/day, 45 days | 73.5 | AM (mod. 16 Hz) | 1.33 | 0.4 | Abnormal behavioural response to noxious stimuli | + (38%) |
| Nittby et al. (2008) | Sweden | Rat (as above) | Ad | 28 (16; 8 sham-exposed) | 2 h/week, 55 weeks | 900 | Lower power level GSM | 3.3×10 ⁻⁴ | 0.62×10 ⁻³ | Behavioural abnormalities: altered performance of rats during episodic-like memory test | + (75%) |
| | | | | | | | | n/a | 0.37×10^{-3} | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | GSM | 33×10^{-4} | 62×10^{-3} | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | | 37×10^{-3} | Idem | |
| Daniels et al. (2009) | South Africa | Rat (as above) | Juv | 12 (12) | 3 h/day, 12 days (2 days after birth) | 840 | RF signal generator | 2.1247×10^{-10} (d=0.93 m) | n/a | Decreased behaviour. Decreased locomotive activity. Unaltered performance of memory tasks | + (60%)- |
| Gathiram et al. (2009) | South Africa | Rat (as above) | Ad | 32 (32) | 8 h/day, 10 days | 100-3000 | Unique field system | n/a | n/a | Unaltered fertility of exposed male and female individuals | - |
| Lee et al. (2009) | Korea | Mouse (as above) | Ad | 17 (14) | 90 min/day (15 min break) 17 days (gestation period) | 848.5 | CDMA | 1.4174-8.2501 | 0.69-4.04 | Unaltered development | _ |
| | | | | | | | | n/a | 2 (Power = 30 W) | Unaltered development | _ |
| | | | | 20 (20) | 90 min/day (15 min break) 17 days (gestation period) | 1950 | WCDMA | 1.0923-7.0043 | 1.11-7.13 | | |
| Mailankot et al. (2009) | India | Rat (as above) | Juv | n/a | 1 h/day, 28 days | 900-1800 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Detrimental effects on fertility | + (53%) |
| Nicholls and Racey (2009) | UK | Bat (Pipistrellus Pipistrellus) | n/a | n/a | 20 h (bat activity); 16 h (insect count); 3 fields | n/a | PW radar | 3.8101×10^{-3} - 1.7275×10^{-1} ¹ (peak values at distance of 10- 30 m) | n/a | Reduced foraging and activity of bats | + (16% in bat counts; 13% bat passes) |
| Sommer et al. (2009) | Germany | Mouse (as above) | Multi-gen. | 128 male 256 female,3 generations | 570 days (chronic exposure), 30 min/ | 2000 | UMTS | 0.135 | 0.08-0.144 | No effect on the abundance of insects Unaltered fertility and development | _ |
| | | | | | аау ргеак | | | 0.69 | 04072 | Idam | |
| | | | | | | | | 0.68 | 0.4-0.72 | laem | |
| Fragopoulou et al. | Greece | Mouse (as above) | Juv | 12 (12) | 4 days, 2 h/day | 900 | GSM | 2.2 0.05–0.2 | 1.3–2.34 0.41–0.98 | Idem Deficits in consolidation and/or retrieval | + (30%) |
| (2010) Balmori (2010) | Spain | Frog (Rana temporaria) | Juv | 70 (70) | 2 months from egg phase until prior to | 648–2155 | Cell-phone base station | 8.5942×10^{-4} - 3.2493×10^{-3} | n/a | Increased mortality rate. Asynchronous growth of exposed subject; disrupted | + (90%) |
| Salama et al. (2010a) | Japan | Rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus) | Ad | 8 (8; 8 sham-exposed) | hetamorphosis 8 h/day, 12 weeks | 800 | PW | 6.2910×10 ⁻⁵ - 2.2616×10 ⁻ ³ (mean value over time at maximum to maximum distance from the phone) | 0.43 (whole body) | Significant decrease in sperm concentration at week 8. Decrease in motile sperm population at week 10. Overall effect on testicular function and reproduction ability | + (62%) (25%) |

(continued on next page)

128

| Reference | Country | Species (scientific name) | Life stage ^a | Number of subjects ^b | Duration of exposure | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/ modulation ^c | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^d | SAR [W/kg] ^e | Effect ^f | Effect size ^g |
|--|-----------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|--------------------|-----------------------------------|---|------------------------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Salama et al. (2010b) | Japan | Rabbit (<i>as above</i>) | Ad | 8 (8; 8 sham-exposed) | 8 h/day, 12 weeks | 800 | PW | 6.2910×10^{-5} - 2.2616 × 10 ⁻³ (mean value over time at minimum to maximum distance from the phone) | 0.43 (whole body) | Detrimental effects on sexual behaviour: increased number of mounts, increased number of mounts without ejaculation | + |
| Imai et al. (2011) | Japan | Rat (as above) | Juv | 24 (24;24) | 5 h/day, 7 days/week, 5 weeks | 1950 | WCDMA CW | n/a | 0.4 | No effects on reproduction and development | - |
| Kesari et al. (2011) | India | Rat (as above) | Juv | 6 (6 sham-exposed) | 2 h/day, 35 days | 900 | n/a | 9.2558×10^{-2} (peak value at 20 m);8.2819× 10^{-2} (peak value at 30 m) | 0.9 (Power = 2 mW) | Potential significant effect on reproduction (fertilizing potential of spermatozoa) | + (41%) |
| Sarookhani et al. (2011) | Iran | Rabbit (as above) | n/a | 18 | 2 h/day, 2 weeks | 950 | GSM | n/a | n/a | Decreased reproductive capacity | + (90%) |
| Aldad et al. (2012) | USA | Mouse (as above) | Ad | 39 pregnant (42 sham-exposed) | 0 to 24 h/day from day 1 to day 17 of gestation | 800 1900 | GSM | n/a | 1.6 | Behavioural and neurophysiological alterations | + (7%) |
| Bouji et al. (2012) Hao et al. (2012) | France China | Rat (as above) Rat (as above) | Middle-aged n/a | 9 (9 sham-exposed) 16 (16) | 15 min 2 times/day for 3 h/day, for 5 days/week, for 10 weeks | 900 916 | GSM PW Mobile phone antenna | n/a 1 | 6 n/a | Altered behaviour and increased stress Altered learning. Altered memory. Adaptation to field after long term exposure | + (47%) + (18%) (18%) |
| Jiang et al. (2012) | China | Mouse (as above) | n/a | 5 (5; 5 exposed to gamma radiation; 5 exposed to combined RF and gamma radiation) | 4 h/day for 1 to 14 days | 900 | Wireless transmitter | 120 | 0.548 | No effect on mutation | _ |
| Lee et al. (2012) | Korea | Rat (as above) | n/a | 5 (5; 5 exposed to gamma radiation; 5 exposed to combined RF and gamma radiation) | 45 min/day, 5 days/ week, 12 weeks | 848.5 | CDMA | n/a | 2 (4 combined with WCDMA) | No effect on reproduction | _ |
| | | | | idem | idem | 1950 | WCDMA | idem | 2 (4 combined with CDMA) | idem | _ |
| Ozlem Nisbet et al. (2012) | Turkey | Rat (as above) | Juv | 11 (11;11) | 2 h/day for 90 days | 900 | GSM | n/a | 0.003 | Increased testosterone level and sperm motility. Altered morphology | + (15%) (3%) |
| | | | | idem | idem | 1800 | GSM | idem | 5.3×10^{-5} | idem | + (14%) (2%) |
| Poullettier de Gannes et al. (2012) | France | Rat (as above) | Various | 20 (20;20) | 2 h/day, 6 days/week, 18 days | 2450 | W-LAN Wi-Fi | n/a | 0.08 | No abnormalities in reproduction and development | _ |
| Yang et al. (2012) | China | Rat (as above) | Ad | 12 (12 sham-exposed) | 20 min | 2450 | MW PW | 65 | 6 | Stress response elicited in rat hippocampus | + (30%) |

^a Life stage refers to the age of the tested subject at the moment of the performance of the experiment.

^b Number of subjects involved in the experiment or field study where reported in the study. In brackets information about number of control subjects. Further specifications of type of subjects involved in the studies are reported if provided by authors. ^c Wave/modulation indicates the type of RF-EMF applied/measured in the study. CW = continuous wave, MW = microwave, GSM = Global System for Mobile Communications, DECT = Digital Enhanced Cordless Telecommunications, PW = pulsed wave, UWB = ultra wide band, AM = amplitude modulation, FM = frequency modulation; UMTS = Universal Mobile Telecommunications System; CDMA = Code division multiple access; TDMA = time division multiple access; and WCDMA = Wideband Code Division Multiple Access.

^d Values of power density are reported as provided by authors or recalculated by conversion of electric field values (PD = EF²/3770) and expressed in mW/cm².

^e Values of SAR are reported as provided by authors and expressed in W/kg.

^f Biological or ecologically relevant endpoints studied.

^g Size of the effect where significant. It indicates the ration between maximum effect and percentual difference compared to control. A + sign indicates a significant effect and a - sign indicates that no significant effect was found.

^h n/a indicates that data was not provided by authors.

(2010). SAR levels were, when provided, obtained by elaboration of data provided by the manufacturer (i.e. for the human head) of the system used for exposure and not directly measured.

The ecologically relevant endpoints analysed in the studies were growth and reproduction. All of the analysed studies found a significant effect compared to the control. With the exception of a study by Weisbrot et al. (2003), all studies were conducted by a research group from the University of Athens, Greece. In the study of Weisbrot et al. (2003) the irradiation determined a beneficial effect on the reproductive success of the exposed system. The number of offsprings even increased by up to 50% compared to control. All the other studies found a significant depression of growth and reproduction as a response to exposure. Several studies performed by Panagopoulos and co-authors (see Table 4) found a maximum decrease in the endpoints of at least 40% compared to control. Exposure duration lasted for 6 min/day or increased over time up to a maximum of 21 min over a period of six or five days. The reproduction of experiments performed at several distances from the emitting system (i.e. a telephone device) suggested in all cases a quasi-linear decrease at increasing durations of exposure (Panagopoulos and Margaritis, 2010) and increase in proximity to the source of the emission (Panagopoulos et al., 2010). In this last study a window-effect was found at distances of 20-30 cm from the device, which resulted in the highest decrease of the measured values.

4.2.3. Effect on other insects

The remaining studies in this section focus on the tobacco hornworm (*Manduca sexta*), on the American cockroach (*Periplaneta americana*) and on a species of ant (*Myrmica sabuleti*; Table 3). The study by Schwartz et al. (1985) analysed differences in development, reproduction and mortality in tobacco hornworms exposed during their larval stage to PW RF-EMF at a frequency of 2695 MHz and a power density of 4 MW/cm². All the measured parameters were affected and effect size was as high as 50% lower compared to control.

The studies on the American cockroach (Vacha et al. 2009) and the ant (Cammaerts et al., 2012) focused on the effects of RF-EMF on the magneto-reception of the insects. In the study by Vacha et al. (2009), it was found that, during and after the rotation of the natural geomagnetic field, the insects turned around, as a response of the detection of the field. However, their ability to detect the geomagnetic field was disrupted after exposure to a field at 1.2 MHz with a magnetic flux density between 12 and 18 nT.

Cammaerts et al. (2012) investigated the impact of RF-EMF on the acquisition and loss of olfactory and visual cues of six experimental colonies of the ant *Myrmica sabuleti*. The exposure to a GSM-generated signal determined a loss in the acquired association between food and a visual cue (40% worse than control), a decreased retention of acquired knowledge, and a total loss of visual memory.

The representation of the size of the effect compared to the power density (Fig. 2) shows that significant effects are found both at high and low dosages, revealing no clear dose–response relationship. In one of the analysed studies, no effects were found at high levels of power density.

4.2.4. Summary

A limited set of articles regarding the possible impact of RF-EMF on honey bees is available in literature. Most of the analysed studies found an effect on the target colonies. The most affected endpoints seemed to be behaviour and orientation of exposed bees, which lead to disruptive consequences in the colonies. The majority of the studies did not provide statistical analysis and did not use clear control measures to analyse results. One exception is the study conducted by Favre (2011), in which the behaviour of the bees seems to be comparable to that experienced by colonies exposed to extreme danger and stress.

The studies analysing the effects of RF-EMF on fruit flies found in all cases a significant effect. Results of one study show an increased reproductive success after exposure. The remaining studies, which were conducted by the same research institute in Greece, found in all cases a significant depression of growth and reproduction at both 900 and 1800 MHz. Two studies on the American cockroach and a species of ant analysed the effects of exposure to RF-EMF on the magneto-reception and orientation of the insects. The behaviour of target systems was disrupted by the exposure to RF-EMF.

4.3. Other vertebrates

The impossibility of conducting laboratory experiments into the effects of RF-EMF on humans steadily increased the number of scientific studies on laboratory vertebrate models. As suggested by the WHO (2006), studies conducted on immature animals can, for instance, provide a useful indicator of possible cognitive and behavioural effects on children. The vast majority of studies focused on the analysis of intracellular pathways, for instance through changes in calcium permeability across membranes (e.g. Maskey et al., 2010); or on gene expression,



Fig. 2. Size of the effects of RF-EMF on insects compared to the power density of exposure. Articles reported in graph: (1) – Westerdahl and Gary (1981a); (2) Westerdahl and Gary (1981b); (3) – Sharma and Kumar (2010); (4) – Panagopoulos et al. (2004); (5) – Panagopoulos et al. (2007) (6) – Panagopoulos et al., 2010; (7) – Panagopoulos and Margaritis, 2010; (8) – Panagopoulos (2012); (9) – Schwartz et al. (1985); and (10) – Cammaerts et al. (2012). See Table 3 for a complete description of studies.



Fig. 3. Size of the effects of RF-EMF compared to the power density of exposed vertebrate animal models. Articles reported in graph: (1) – Berman et al. (1992); (2) – Magras and Xenos (1997); (3) – Khillare and Behari (1998); (4) – Nittby et al. (2008); (5) – Mathur (2008); (6) – Salama et al. (2010a); (7) – Kesari et al. (2011); (8) – Lai et al. (1994); (9) – Daniels et al. (2009); (10) – Nicholls and Racey (2009); (11) – Fragopoulou et al. (2010); (12) – Balmori (2010); (13) – Hao et al. (in press); (14) – Yang et al. (2012); (15) – Jiang et al. (2012); (16) – Chernovetz et al. (1975); (17) – Jensh et al. (1982); (18) – Lary et al. (1983); (19) – D'Andrea et al. (1989); (20) – Sherry et al. (1995); (21) – Klug et al. (1997); (22) – Jensh (1997); (23) – Bornhausen and Scheingraber (2000); (24) – Dasdag et al. (2008); (25) – Lee et al. (2009); (26) – Sommer et al. (2009); and (27) – Sienkiewicz et al. (2000). See Table 4 for a complete description of studies.

namely on the neurons of rats exposed to RF-EMF (e.g. Salford et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2007); or on possible chromosomal damage in mice cells (e.g. Nikolova et al., 2005).

A total of 50 scientific articles were selected for a total of 62 relevant ecological experiments (Table 4). The endpoints analysed which were of interest were fertility, growth, behaviour and mortality (Table 1).

With the exception of one study on bats (Pipistrellus pipistrellus, Pipistrellus pygmaeus, Myotis daubentonii, and Myotis nattereri) breeding nearby a wind turbine and one study on the tadpoles of frogs (Rana temporaria), all studies were conducted in a laboratory setting. The animal systems under investigation were rats commonly used in laboratory studies (Wistar albino rat and Sprague Dawley rat), mice (Balb/c and Balb/c/f), rabbits (White New Zealand Rabbit), rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Of the total of 50 articles, 50% of the studies were conducted on rats. A total of 27 experiments (43%) showed no significant results of an impact of RF-EMF under the physical and experimental settings used. The power density ranged from 0.6×10^{-6} to 20 mW/cm², which was the maximum value measured for MW CW exposures (Table 4). The SARs values measured ranged from 0.00194 to 44 W/kg, with a peak value measured at 2450 MHz for MW PW exposure. In the studies in which higher level of exposure to RF-EMF were applied and temperature was not controlled, results may be related to an increase in body temperature as a consequence of exposure.

A large share of the studies on vertebrate animal models focused on changes in behaviour as a result of exposure. This choice may be related to investigating of possible influences of RF-EMF on the behaviour and cognitive performance of humans, who use mobile phone devices in close proximity to their heads. Some commonalities between human and rat response to noxious substances have been explored by other fields of science (Hammond et al., 2004). Lai et al. (1994) suggested that rats suffer from a deficit in spatial working memory function when exposed to RF-EMF (50% decreased performance compared to control). The repetition of the experiment with similar conditions of exposure by Cassel et al. (2004), Cobb et al. (2004), and Cosquer et al. (2005) found no effects on learning abilities of rats in the performance of spatial tasks and no evidence of altered brain development.

Another example in this direction is the work of Daniels et al. (2009), who investigated the effect of RF-EMF in the mobile phone range on the behaviour of the rat with controversial results. Spatial memory was tested using the Morris water maze test (Morris, 1984), and mood disturbances and anxiety-like behaviour were tested in an open field test, for twelve radiated and twelve control subjects. Results showed no significant differences between groups in the Morris test, suggesting no significant difference in the behaviour of exposed and control rats. However, male rats performed significantly worse (60%) in the open field test.

The articles by Lee et al. (2009, 2012) and Imai et al. (2011) are the only studies focusing on the impact of the frequencies network standards found in 3 G mobile communication (Collins and Smith, 2001), working with protocols like wideband code division multiple access (W-CDMA) or CDMA. All experiments, on mice and rats, did not have any observable adverse effect on development, reproduction or mutation of tested subjects. No effects on the development of rats were also observed by the study of Poullettier Poulletier de Gannes et al. (2012), where Wireless Fidelity (Wi-Fi) signal at 2450 MHz was applied on rats, and by the study of Jiang et al. (2012), where mice were exposed to a wireless transmitter at 900 MHz. These studies represent the first attempt to investigate the effects of wireless communication on health.

The field experiment of Balmori (2010) on the behaviour and growth of the tadpoles of frogs (*Rana temporaria*) placed 140 m from a field station provides evidence of the effect of RF-EMF. The exposed group showed low coordination of movements, an asynchronous growth and a high mortality (90%). The control group was exposed to the same environmental conditions, but placed inside a Faraday cage. As a result, the coordination of movements was normal, the development was synchronous, and the mortality rate was 4.2%. The research goal of the field study by Nicholls and Racey (2009) was to test whether PW RF-EMF emitted by a radar could be used as a method of preventing bats from death caused by collisions with wind turbines. The authors analysed 20

| Summary of articles | on ecologica | al effects of RI | F-EMF on the bacterium E | scherichia coli, | the nematode | e Caenorhabditis elegans, a | and the land snai | Helix pomatia. | | | |
|------------------------------|----------------|------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|----------------------------------|---|--|----------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| Reference | Country | Species | Scientific name | Duration of exposure | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/ modulation ^a | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^b | Magnetic flux density [µT] ^c | SAR [W/kg] ^d | Effect ^e | Effect size ^f |
| Grospietsch et al. (1995) | Germany | Bacterium | Escherichia coli | 6 h | 150 | PW (mod. 72 Hz) | 6.7905 | 5.4 | n/a ^g | Enhanced growth at higher field frequencies, identical at various modulation frequencies | + |
| | | | | Idem | 150 | PW (mod. 217 Hz) | 6.7905 | 5.4 | n/a | | |
| | | | | | 150 | PW (mod. 1100 Hz) | 6.7905 | 5.4 | n/a | | |
| | | | | | 150 | CW | 6.7905 | 5.4 | n/a | | |
| Daniells et al. | UK | Nematode | Caenorhabditis elegans | 2-16 h | 750 | MW TEM cell | n/a | n/a | n/a | Stress reporter gene induction after 2 and | +(150%) |
| (1998) | | | strain PC72 | continuous | 300 | | | | | 16 h of exposure | |
| de Pomerai et al. | UK | Nematode | Caenorhabditis elegans | 20 h | 1000 | MW CW | 5.37×10^{-5} | n/a | 0.001 | Enhanced growth as a consequence of | + (9.8% mean; |
| (2002) | | | | | | | | | | exposure | 11.2% max) |
| Nittby et al. (2012) | Sweden | Landa snail | Helix pomatia | | 1900 | GSM modulated signal | 0.068 | n/a | 0.048 | Beneficial induced analgesia | + (20%) |
| ^a Wave/modulati | on indicates t | the type of RF | F-EMF applied/measured | in the study. M | odulation valı | ue reported if provided b | y authors. $CW = 0$ | continuous wave, | MW = mid | rowave, GSM = Global System for Mobile Comm | nunications, PW = |
| pulsed wave, and D | CS=digital c | cellular systen | n. | | | | | | | | |
| ^b Values of power | r density are | reported as p | provided by authors or rec | calculated by co | nversion of e | lectric field values (PD = | EF ² /3770) and e | xpressed in mW/ | cm ² . | | |
| C Values of magne | stir flux dene | sity if novide | d hy authors | | | | | | | | |

Biological or ecologically relevant endpoints studied. Size of the effect where significant effect and percentual difference compared to control. A + sign indicates a significant effect and a – sign indicates that no significant effect was found.

Values of SAR are reported as provided by authors and expressed in W/kg.

n/a indicates that data was not provided by authors

S. Cucurachi et al. / Environment International 51 (2013) 116-140

foraging sites. The exposure of bats to a pulsed wave radar system determined a significant reduction in foraging activity of bats.

The plotting of the size of the effect with the relative measured power density (where the value was provided by authors) of positive studies does not show any detectable trend (see Fig. 3). No clear pattern is visible from the analysis of the data and effects were found both at high and low levels of power density.

4.3.1. Summary

Rats and rabbits exposed to RF-EMF in a laboratory setting represented the most studied animal model. Changes in behaviour as a result of exposure were analysed in most studies and presented contradictory results. As for the other endpoints, significant effects were found under various conditions of exposure and under different laboratory setups. A field study showed a significant effect of exposure on the growth and mortality rates of tadpoles of frogs under field conditions. In another RF-EMF reduced the foraging activity of bats.

4.4. Other organisms

This section includes studies on the effect of RF-EMF on the bacterium (*Escherichia coli*), the nematode (*Caenorhabditis elegans*), and the land snail (*Helix pomatia*), which constitute the species not yet included in the previous sections.

The screening of the literature identified four studies for a total of eight experiments (Table 5). In all cases effects were significant. The RF-EMF applied were mainly the GSM 900 MHz and GSM 1800 MHz (DCS—Digital Cellular System) systems, with the exception of the study of Grospietsch et al. (1995) and de Pomerai et al. (2002), which studied respectively a pulsed wave modulated frequency at 150 MHz and a microwave continuous wave frequency at 1000 MHz (Table 5).

RF-EMF power density was measured in the range of 0.0005 to 0.679 mW/cm². All the values can be considered typical for digital mobile telephony handsets and in most cases fall within the current exposure criteria (ICNIRP, 1998).

The ecologically relevant endpoints analysed in the studies were growth, reproduction and stress. All of the analysed studies found a significant effect compared to the control. The exposure of the bacteria *E. coli* and the nematode *C. elegans* suggests that RF-EMF tend to enhance growth of the organisms. The study on the land snail (Nittby et al., 2012) found a beneficial non-thermal analgesic effect on a group of 29 land snails placed on a hot plate. The response time to heat of GSM-exposed snails was 20% higher than that of the control. The study by Daniells et al. (1998), which exposed a transgenic nematode (*C. elegans* PC72) to RF-EMF at a frequency of 750 MHz, found a significant drastic effect on the stress levels (i.e. 150% higher than control) of the exposed target system.

4.4.1. Summary

Studies on the effects of RF-EMF on the bacterium (*E. coli*), the nematode (*C. elegans*) and the land snail (*H. pomatia*) reported in all cases a significant effect on behaviour and growth of target subjects and under all laboratory setups applied. The study on the *E. coli* and *C. elegans* beneficially affected growth. The exposure of the land snail to RF-EMF retarded the response to heat determining a beneficial analgesic effect.

4.5. Plants and yeasts

The influence of the earth's natural magnetic field or that of superimposed artificial magnetic fields on plants has been known for many years. Static magnetic fields, in fact, have been proven to have a beneficial impact on the stimulation of growth and germination of plants (Dulbinskaya, 1973; Pittman, 1965; Savostin, 1930), or inhibitive impact depending on the species and their physiological state (Krizaj and Valencic, 1989; Ružič et al., 1998). According to Soltani et al.

Table 6

Summary of articles on the ecological effects of RF-EMF on plants.

| Reference | Country | Species | Scientific name | Life stage ^a | Type of study ^b | Number of subjects ^c | Duration of exposure | Frequency [MHz] | Wave/ modulation ^d | Power density [mW/cm ²] ^e | SAR [W/kg] ^f | Effect ^g | Effect size ^h |
|---------------------------|-------------|-------------------|--|---|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------|---|---|----------------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| Haider et al. (1994) | Austria | Spiderwort | Tradescantia | Plant cuttings with young flower buds | Field | n/a ⁱ | 30 h | 10-21 | AM CW | 0.43 | n/a | Clastogenic effect at all distances and electric field levels | + (157% mean) |
| | | | | | | | | 14 | | 1.3 | n/a | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | 10 | | 0.43 | n/a | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | 14 18–21 | | 2.15 0.0003 (200 m from broadcasting area) | n/a n/a | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | 18–21 | | 1.1207 (mesh cage at 10 m from the slewable curtain antenna) | n/a | | |
| Balodis et al. (1996) | Latvia | Pine | Pinus sylvestris | 50–90 years old | Field | 20 trees per plot, 8 plots | 21 years | 154–162 | Radio transmitter with horizontal polarisation | n/a | n/a | Diminished radial growth near source | + |
| Magone (1996) | Latvia | Great duckweed | Spirodela polyrhiza Schleiden | Plants of different age | Lab | 10–30 plants, 5 flasks | 5 days | 156–162 | PW | 0.0018 (max value) | n/a | Accelerated reproduction rate. Developmental abnormalities compared (after 30 to 80 days). Shorter life span | + (150% mean) (58%) (22%) |
| Schmutz et al. (1996) | Switzerland | Spruce; beech | Picea abies () Karst.; Fagus silvatica | Seedling | Field | 135 (3 replicates) | 3 years, 7 months | 900 | MW | 10(600 W of power); 30;1;3;0.1;0.3 | n/a | Unaltered growth and photosynthetic activity. Decreased calcium and sulphur in beech leaves at increasing power | - |
| Selga and Selga (1996) | Latvia | Pine | Pinus sylvestris | Needles and cones | Lab | n/a | n/a | 154–162 | Radio transmitter (*horizontal polarisation) | 4.2440×10 ⁻⁷ -16.578 | n/a | Cytological andultra-structural changes | + |
| Urech et al. (1996) | Switzerland | Lichens | Parmelia tiliaceaHypogymnia physodes | n/a | Lab | n/a | 24 h/day, up to 800 days | 2450 | MW CW | 0.2–50 | 0.9 (mean wet) | Reduced growth rate at 50 mW/cm ² (thermal effect). No alterations at 5 mW/cm ² or below. No alterations at 9.5 MHz | + (67%) |
| | | | | | | | | 2450 | MW CW | 50 | 0.9 (mean wet) | | _ |
| | | | | | | | | 9.5 | Short-wave broadcast transmitter | 14.65 | 0.0004 (mean wet) | | _ |
| Gos et al. (2000) | Switzerland | Yeast | Saccharomyces cerevisiae | Cell | Lab | 4 (strains) | 1 h | 900 | GSM PW | n/a | 0.13 | No effect on mutation or stress | _ |
| Tkalec et al. (2005) | Croatia | Duckweed | Lemna Minor | Cultures of young and old leaves | Lab | n/a | 36 h 2–14 h | 400 | CW; GTEM cell | 0.0265 (for 14 h); 0.14 (2 h and 4 h); 0.446 (2 h); 40.345 (2 h) | 1.3 n/a | Reduced growth | + (15% mean after 8 days) |
| | | | | | | | | 400 | AM CW | 0.140 | n/a | Reduced growth | (14% mean after 8 davs) |
| | | | | | | | | 900 | CW; GTEM cell | 0.0265(for 14 h); 0.1403(2 h and 4 h); 0.4459 (2 h); 40.3448 (2 h) | n/a | Reduced growth | (37% mean after 8 days) |
| | | | | | | | | 900 | AM CW | 0.140 | n/a | Reduced growth | (29% mean after 8 days) |
| | | | | | | | | 1900 | CW; GTEM cell | 0.0265 | n/a | Decrease in growth | (22% mean after 8 days) |
| | France | Tomato | | 3 weeks old | Lab | n/a | 10 min | 900 | GSM | 0.0066 | n/a | | |

| Roux et al. (2006) Tkalec et al. (2007) | Croatia | Duckweed | Lycopersicon esculentum VFN8. Lemna minor | Cultures | Lab | 10-12 | 2 h | 400-900 | GTEM cell | 0.0265 | n/a | Evidence of stress-related responses Depending on the field frequencies applied and on strength modulation and exposure time, induced oxidative stress | + (173% mean) + (25% mean) |
|--|------------------|--------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--------|----------------------------|---|---------|---------------------|--------------------|------|--|---|
| | | | | | | | | | | 1.403 | n/a | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | | | 0.4459 | n/a | Idem | |
| | | | | | | | | | | 3.8196 | n/a | ldem | |
| Davis at al | F | T + - | T | Call automaa | T - I- | 50 mlanta 4 | 2–4 h | 000 | CINI | 1.403 | n/a | Idem | |
| (2007) | France | Tomato | esculentum VFN8 | Cell cultures | LaD | sø plants, 4 replicates | 10 min | 900 | CW | 0.0066 | n/a | strong correlation between stress-related parameters and exposure | + (6% mean treated; % mean shielded) |
| Sharma et al. (2009) | India | Mung bean | Vigna radiata | Seedling | Lab | 50 (50) | 0.5 h; 1 h; 2 h; 4 h | 900 | GSM CW | 0.00855 | n/a | Inhibition of germination. Inhibition of root growth as a consequence of oxidative stress | + (16% mean) |
| Ursache et al. (2009) | Romania | Maize | Zea mays | Seedling | Lab | 25, 5 replicates | 1 h; 2 h; 4 h; 12 h | 418 | CW; TEM cell | 0.6 | n/a | Increased photosynthesis efficiency. | + (60% higher chlorophyll content; 35% higher carotene content) |
| Jinapang et al. (2010, 2009) | Thailand/ USA | Mung bean; water convolvuluses | Vigna radiata; Ipomea aquatica | Seedling | Lab | 240 (15), 3 replicates | 1 h; 2 h; 4 h | 425 | CW; TEM cell | 0.015 (power 10 W) | n/a | Improved growth. Optimum respectively at: 100 mW for 1 h and 1 mW of power for 2 h | + (33% mean mung bean; 28% mean water convol- vuluses) |
| Vrhovac et al. (2010) | Croatia | Yeast | Saccharomyces cerevisiae | Strains (FF18733, FF1481, D7) | Lab | 3 | 15-60 min | 905 | MW PW; GTEM cell | n/a | 0.12 | Affected growth of three strains of <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> , due to DNA damage | + (34% mean) |
| Chen et al. (2012) | China | Yeast | As above | Cells | Lab | | 5 min with system on, 10 min with system off for 6 h | 1800 | GSM PW | n/a | 4.7 | Altered gene-expression | + |

^a Life stage refers to the age of the tested subject at the moment of the performance of the experiment.

^b Studies divided in laboratory and field studies. Lab = laboratory study and Field = field study.

^c Number of subjects involved in the experiment or field study where reported in the study. In brackets information about number of control subjects. Further specifications of type of subjects involved in the studies are reported if provided by authors.

^d Wave/Modulation indicates the type of RF-EMF applied/measured in the study. CW = continuous wave, MW = microwave, GSM = Global System for Mobile Communications, PW = pulsed wave, UWB = ultra wide band, AM = amplitude modulation, FM = frequency modulation, and GTEM = gigahertz transverse electromagnetic cell.

^e Values of power density are reported as provided by authors or recalculated by conversion of electric field values (PD = EF²/3770) and expressed in mW/cm².

^f Values of SAR are reported as provided by authors and expressed in W/kg.

^g Biological or ecologically relevant endpoints studied.

^h Size of the effect where significant. It indicates the ration between maximum effect and percentual difference compared to control. A + sign indicates a significant effect and a - sign indicates that no significant effect was found. ⁱ n/a indicates that data was not provided by authors.



Fig. 4. Size of the effects of RF-EMF compared to the power density of exposed plants. Articles reported in graph: (1) – Tkalec et al. (2005); (2) – Tkalec et al. (2007); (3) – Roux et al. (2007); (4) – Ursache et al. (2009); (5) – Jinapang et al. (2010); (6) – Sharma et al. (2009); (7) – Urech et al. (1996); (8) – Magone (1996); (9) – Haider et al. (1994); and (10) – Schmutz et al. (1996). See Table 6 for a complete description of studies.

(2006), until now no proper physiological explanation has been provided for the described effects, though the biological effects of weak static MF do not only depend on the physical conditions of the exposure (e.g. power density and frequency), but also on the environmental conditions in place.

The analysed literature considered that plants are continuously exposed to RF-EMF as they cannot avoid them, by moving away from the source of emission. As in the case of the studies explored in earlier sections, little is known about a possible mechanism explaining how exposure to RF-EMF may cause biological/ecological effects, and therefore most of the investigations were aimed at the possible mechanisms underlying the effects in plants.

In total, 16 studies and 29 experiments were selected based on the ecological relevance of the endpoints studied (Table 6). Ten experiments investigated the impact of RF-EMF on the inhibition of the regular growth of plants. Four experiments directly investigated the stress levels of plants exposed to RF-EMF as a variation in specific test methods. The remaining studies focused on abnormalities as a consequence of the exposure, and on the effect on the photosynthesis.

The frequency investigated ranged from as low as 10 MHz from an AM CW system (Haider et al., 1994) to 2450 MHz MW CW EMF (Schmutz et al., 1996). Power density ranged from 0.015 mW/cm² to 50 mW/cm², therefore lower than the values measured in the previous section on the fruit fly (*D. melanogaster*, in Section 4.4) and in line with the applications measured for birds and bees (Sections 4.1 and 4.2). When measured and provided, SAR values were in the range of 0.0–4.7 W/kg (see Table 6).

The experiment by Schmutz et al. (1996) investigated the effects of a long term exposure to 900 MHz MW on the spruce and the beech (*Picea abies* and *Fagus silvatica*). At a measured power density of 10 mW/cm², growth parameters and photosynthetic activities of the systems were not affected. No evidence was found on the mutation and the stress levels of yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) in the laboratory experiment by Gos et al. (2000) and on mutation in the study by Chen et al. (2012). No information was provided on the levels of power density.

Among the studies with a significant effect on plants, three were published in 1996 by a Latvian group of researchers (Balodis et al., 1996; Magone, 1996; Selga and Selga, 1996). The researchers focused on the area of Skundra, Latvia, where a radio location station had been operating for 20 years. The three studies provide a unique experience of a complete set of experiments and field studies conducted around a radio station in the short as well as in the long term. The area of study also allowed for the investigation of RF-EMF effects at different distances from the station. The effects of other environmental and anthropogenic factors (e.g. pollution levels and population density) were also evaluated without revealing any significant effect on the parameters studied. As a result, the non-thermal RF-EMF under investigation indicated that the effects of short term exposure (i.e. up to five days) are dependent on the stage of growth of great duckweed (Spirodela polyrhiza; Magone, 1996) at the time of exposure. The vegetative growth of young plants decreased as a consequence of exposure, while it even accelerated in the case of older plants. The exposed population of adult plants was on average growing 150% more than the control unexposed samples. In the other two studies the pine tree (Pinus sylvestris) was under investigation. The effects of RF-EMF emitted by the radio station were analysed using retrospective tree ring data in Balodis et al. (1996): a significant negative correlation between the measured electric field at specific sample locations and the mean relative additional annual increment of pines has been identified. Selga and Selga (1996) found significant cytological and ultra-structural changes in exposed pine needles and cones.

Duckweed (*Lemna minor*) was used as a model plant for the monitoring of effects on growth and other physiological responses also in two studies by Tkalec et al. (2005, 2007), which confirmed that under most of the investigated conditions of field frequencies, modulation, and exposure time growth was significantly reduced (i.e. 29% on average less) compared to control.

A connection between exposure and very rapid molecular stress responses was made in the studies performed by Roux et al. (2006, 2008) focusing on the molecular responses of tomato plants (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill VFN8). The study was based on the use of several stress related transcripts (e.g. energy charge and protease inhibitor). Great differences were found in the exposed population compared to the control (up to 300%). The data supports the evidence that plants respond to exposure as they would respond to any other injurious treatment. Even though the RF-EMF used was non-thermal and the total power used was low, results, as the authors commented, are strikingly similar to those found when plants are wounded, cut or burned.

Plotting of the size of the effect and the power density measured in studies (i.e. where provided) did not show any identifiable trend (see Fig. 4): effects were found at high and low dosages and the size of effects varied greatly across studies.

4.5.1. Summary

Significant effects of RF-EMF were found mostly on the inhibition of the growth of exposed plants. Oxidative stress (e.g. for tomato plants or duckweed) and continuous abiotic stress have been presented in some studies as possible determinants of the mechanism. Of interest is the case of studies performed for an extensive period of time in an area in Latvia around a radar station and involving both field and laboratory investigations. These studies showed possible effects of RF-EMF on the radial growth of pine trees (*P. sylvestris*), and on the growth of duckweed (*L. minor*) or great duckweed (*S. polyrhiza*).

5. Synthesis

5.1. General

The reviewed literature focused on birds, insects, plants and other vertebrates studied as model species. Other important ecological groups such as e.g. bumble bees, were underrepresented. Field studies were limited and mostly focused on the analysis of the response of birds and honey bees to RF-EMF. Irrespective of the studied group, development and reproduction were the most studied ecological endpoints.

The number of studies finding effects was highest for plants (90%) and insects (90%), lower for birds (70%), other vertebrates (56%) and other organisms (50%). In all the available field studies significant effects of RF-EMF were found. In laboratory experiments, birds and vertebrate animal subjects were in most cases tested at higher frequencies than smaller organisms (e.g. fruit flies) and plants. Older experiments on birds were often carried out at relatively high frequency MW (i.e. 2450 MHz and higher) and dosages(power density greater than 100 mW/cm²), which possibly determined a thermal increase of body temperature. In later experiments temperature was kept under control.

The quality of the reported RF-EMF characteristics was heterogeneous. Some studies only provided the frequencies of the RF-EMF emitting device and one dosage parameter (e.g. power density in mW/cm²). A limited number of studies supplied the full list of physical parameters needed for an adequate description of the exposure (e.g. modulation, spatial connotation of field, polarisation, field pattern and measuring techniques). The reporting of the measured or extrapolated power density values and relative electric field values were discordant and no precise information was given on measurement or calculation procedures. Also relevant biological parameters were often neglected or not described (i.e. size, tissue dielectric properties, size, geometry, and relation to polarisation; see Michaelson, 1991).

The overall quality of the studies varied across and within groups. In the case of the studies regarding bees (with the exception of the study of Favre, 2011) a limited definition of the characterisation parameters of the exposure, and a low number of control/sham measurements limit the possibility of generalising results and for possible ecological effects.

5.2. Dose-effect relationships

The studies that did find an effect did not always refer to the existence of a dose–effect relationship. Two studies from a Greek research group (Panagopoulos and Margaritis, 2010; Panagopoulos et al., 2010) described a non-linear window-effect of RF-EMF at a specific distance from the emitting source. Despite a high number of studies finding a significant effect, there was no clear relationship between applied dosage and size of effect, at the level of ecological groups. However, the analysis was hampered by the use of different and scarcely comparable physical parameters to characterise dosage and the use of different ways of shielding control groups (e.g. not always a Faraday cage was used). Experimental groups were not always shielded from extraneous sources of RF-EMF and other types of RF-EMF not expressly taken into consideration.

One important conclusion is that even at low dosages, high effect percentages were described in the range of between 10 and 90%. There seem to be no specific physical parameters and experimental conditions that seem to determine an effect. In the field experiment the proximity to the emitting device (i.e. usually a base station) contributes to increase the size of the effect.

5.3. From biological to ecological mechanisms and effects

In studies involving RF-EMF exposure temperature increase is often the only recognised and recognisable agent causing an effect. The WHO (2010) considers temperature as the only clear mechanism active, especially in the studies exposing subjects to higher dosages. Most studies only report an effect of RF-EMF, without paying any attention to possible explanations. Stress is often mentioned as a possible influential element. Studies which use a sham-exposed group investigating also the possible influence of the sheer presence of the emitting device in the test area tend to exclude stress as the sole triggering factor for the effect, suggesting that the effect should be ascribed totally to the physical composition of the EMF and to the exposure conditions.

In the case of plants, a used theory is that the effects of RF-EMF could be described and explained, also at non-thermal exposure dosages, as an ordinary stress factor, like drought or heat. The size of effects mentioned in studies with effects is relatively large in comparison with the control situations, and therefore it may be tentatively concluded from these studies that RF-EMF might have a significant ecological effect.

5.4. Differences between effect and no-effect studies: a possible bias?

The differences in articles between effect and no-effect RF-EMF studies were compared regarding the country of the origin, the exposure duration, the applied RF-EMF frequencies, and the impact factor of the journal of publication (see Table 7).

The comparison of the countries of origin of the main authors and research groups showed in both groups a clear prevalence of studies coming from the USA (Table 7). Among the studies that did find a significant effect the most represented countries were India, Greece, France, Croatia, Germany, and Latvia (see Table 7). A lower variation in countries was found in the case of no-effect studies.

The analysis of the duration of the exposure showed that exposure was on average twice as high in the case of positive studies than in studies with no significant effects. Minimum and maximum values were also higher in the first case (see Table 7).

The distribution of studies according to the RF-EMF frequencies applied confirmed a clear prevalence of the range between GSM and MW lower band in the case of studies finding an effect. Most of the studies which did not find an effect applied RF-EMF frequencies higher than 2000 MHz (see Table 7). The analysis of the impact factors (JRC WEB, Journal Citation Reports, 2012) of the journals where the selected articles were published showed on average a higher score for studies not finding an effect (see Table 7).

In conclusion, possible ecological effects of RF-EMF seem to be found more at higher duration in the GSM bands and in the MW frequency bands (>2000 MHz).

5.5. Minimum requirements for studies on ecological effects of RF-EMF

In Michaelson (1991) and Beers (1989) attention is paid to the experimental set up of RF-EMF experiments, and to the criteria to conduct biological (therefore, also ecological) RF-EMF field and laboratory studies. The criteria are in line with the propositions of WHO (van Deventer et al., 2011) and their proposed research agenda. None of the studies analysed in this review reported the use of these standard procedures of exposure and analysis.

According to Michaelson (1991) and Beers (1989), experimental conditions should be meticulously defined, selecting the most appropriate animal species to investigate the effect of RF-EMF: intrinsic physical and physiological dissimilarities between species could be confounding elements. The experiments/studies should include a total precise duration

Table 7

Analysis of differences in articles between RF-EMF effect and no-effect studies.

| Parameter | Effect | No effect | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Country (number) ^a | | | | | | | | |
| USA | 18 | 17 | | | | | | |
| India | 8 | 3 | | | | | | |
| Greece | 8 | 2 | | | | | | |
| France | 5 | 8 | | | | | | |
| Croatia, China, Germany, Latvia, Spain and UK | 3 | | | | | | | |
| Canada, Japan and Switzerland | 2 | | | | | | | |
| Others | 10 | 12 | | | | | | |
| Exposure duration (min) ^b | | | | | | | | |
| Mean | 146,960.5 | 63,241.26 | | | | | | |
| Median | 1800 | 1800 | | | | | | |
| Mode | 30 | 300 | | | | | | |
| Standard deviation | 836,108.1 | 232,212.2 | | | | | | |
| Sample variance | 6.99E+11 | 5.39E+10 | | | | | | |
| Minimum | 5 | 0.0875 | | | | | | |
| Maximum | 7,257,600 | 1238,400 | | | | | | |
| Based on number of articles | 79 | 39 | | | | | | |
| Frequency ranges (MHz) (number) ^c | | | | | | | | |
| 0-30 | 3 | 2 | | | | | | |
| 31–200 | 7 | 2 | | | | | | |
| 201–900 | 38 | 9 | | | | | | |
| 901–1200 | 7 | 1 | | | | | | |
| 1201–1800 | 4 | 5 | | | | | | |
| 1801–2000 | 3 | 4 | | | | | | |
| >2000 | 19 | 16 | | | | | | |
| Journal Impact Factor ^d | | | | | | | | |
| Mean | 2.079973 | 2.449725 | | | | | | |
| Median | 2.291 | 2.371 | | | | | | |
| Mode | 0.73 | 2.291 | | | | | | |
| Standard deviation | 1.094949 | 0.897919 | | | | | | |
| Sample variance | 1.198914 | 0.806259 | | | | | | |
| Minimum | 0.13 | 0.246 | | | | | | |
| Maximum | 4.411 | 4.411 | | | | | | |
| Based on number of articles | 73 | 40 | | | | | | |

^a Country: location of the university where main author or research group are based. Data tested by Fisher Exact Test (p-value = 0.1595).

^b Exposure duration (min): duration of exposure of target subject in minutes as reported by author. Data tested by Kruskal-Wallis (p-value = 0.9514).

^c Frequency ranges (MHz): type of RF-EMF frequency ranges applied in studies. Data tested by Fisher Exact Test (p-value = 0.03531).

^d Journal Impact Factor: impact factor of journal of publication, if available, of RF-EMF study as reported by Journal of Citation Reports on the Web (JRC WEB). Data tested by Kruskal–Wallis (p-value=0.3233).

of exposure, the length of periods of exposure, intervals (if any) between exposures and heating amplitude. Relatively to the SAR levels, the experts warn that they are often predicted using models which fail to characterise specific features of the species exposed (bone, tissue and energy deposition). All the factors that can influence biological responses at the same SAR level (e.g. sex, age and number of subjects) need to be reported.

As for the setup of laboratory experiments, standard laboratory stressors should be avoided or at least accounted for (e.g. using sham-exposure). The effects of other intervening factors (e.g. temperature, noise and chemicals) should be considered (or avoided).

Relative to the characteristics of the RF-EMF, some effects might be related to (or influenced by) the local geomagnetic field and, oddly enough, by the variation occurring in RF-EMF because of lunar phases (Beers, 1989). Other factors that affect the absorption of the RF-EMF (e.g. frequency, polarisation, modulation and field pattern) have to be considered and reported, together with other possible confounding elements (e.g. RF-EMF alien to the experiment/study under investigation).

In the number of studies analysed in this review, it appears that too little attention is paid to these important recommendations. The majority of the reviewed research has been done using small rodents. Scaling of results to other species is needed to further investigate and extend results to the ecosystem level. Some exposure setups are capable of reflecting or focusing the EMF, inducing the SAR levels to increase more than experimenters may have realised, which may lead to erroneous conclusions. There is a clear need for proper dosimetry in experimental procedures with a detailed description of the methods. A special point of attention is the control: not only a control situation, but also a sham situation should be included. This procedure might introduce some extra difficulties in field situations but might still be possible (e.g. by experimentally shutting down the communication stations for a period of maintenance).

There is a great need for more ecological experiment/studies on the effects of RF-EMF, taking into account the reported guidelines. From this ecological review it became, in fact, clear that the way in which RF-EMF were applied and measured, was very heterogeneous, limiting the possible comparison of the effects found.

6. Conclusions and recommendations

The screening of literature in the field ranges that were analysed provided a limited number of strictly ecological studies. The distinction between biological studies and ecological studies as intended in this review has been detailed in Section 1 of this contribution. Only endpoints that may provide an *ecologically* relevant picture were selected, in order to quantify significant biological effects, which may provide valuable hints on the ecological implications of results. The effects of RF-EMF on different biological groups were investigated. With reference to the groups under investigations in the selected studies (i.e. birds, honeybees, mammals, plants, *Drosophila* and others) there is ecologically relevant evidence that the RF-EMF caused an effect in about 50% of the animal studies and about 90% of the plant studies. No studies, in fact, were found on the impact of RF-EMF at the ecosystem level. The sole study by Reijt et al. (2007) investigated the alteration in the interaction among two species of Tits. Only eight studies were conducted in the field.

Nevertheless, an ecological interpretation of the biological studies under review was necessary. The information and results on effects gathered in laboratory studies may need to be cautiously handled due to the sheer nature of the laboratory solutions adopted. The conditions applied in the laboratory studies, in fact, do not always reflect real conditions of exposure, and at times it is important to carefully evaluate the plausibility that biological systems exposed to RF-EMF could likely translate into ecologically relevant effects.

As suggested by the expert panel to the European Commission SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks) (2009) and Foster and Repacholi (2004), while it seems appropriate to perform experimental studies using pure experimental RF fields, it may be necessary to emulate the complex modulation patterns and intensity variations typical to real RF-EMF exposure. Few of the studies found were performed in the field and engaged in real exposure conditions and only few laboratory studies dealt with real-exposure modulation.

The ICNIRP guidelines (1998, 2010) provide limiting values as basic restrictions and reference levels for the exposure of humans to RF-EMF. These guidelines have been adopted by most European countries which have imposed limits (EU Commission implantation Reports, 2008). To our knowledge, there are currently no guidelines for the exposure of biodiversity to RF-EMF. The available data has so far been inadequate to judge whether the ICNIRP guidelines and other environmental standards should be the same or significantly different from those appropriate to protect human health (EU, 2011).

However, if we consider that the guidelines might protect biodiversity (i.e. with the consideration of differences in size and exposure conditions), in some studies analysed we encountered applications of dosages hardly experienced by animals and plants in case of real outdoor conditions. As a general trend, no clear relationship was determined between maximum effects found in different studies and the dosage of the RF-EMF applied. Also at very low dosages significant ecologically relevant effects were found. These values are compatible with real field situations, and could be found under environmental conditions. From the limited number of field studies decreasing effects could be determined at increasing distances from the emitting source, but residual relevant effects were still detected as far as 300 m away and with an average measured electric field of 0.53 V/m, thus 7.45×10^{-5} mW/cm² (ICNIRIP limit for general human population 0.0004 V/m).

As ICNIRP suggests (2010), when reference levels are exceeded restrictions values are not necessarily exceeded. Further investigations, need to be undertaken. For instance, localised fields in excess of the reference levels can be emitted by certain devices (i.e. wireless or remotely-controlled devices) but there might be a weak coupling of the field with the body of the exposed target subject (e.g. due to the size of the exposed subject). Therefore, while it is not possible to rule out the adverse ecological relevance of effects, ICNIRP (2010) and WHO (2010) suggest to extrapolate only cautious indications on the global impact of RF-EMF on ecosystems.

Considering the relevant remark of Beers (1989) "a long list of reports of positive results yielded by inadequate experiments may appear impressive in a review and yet mean little". No clear relationships, in fact, could be found between dosage and effects because of a wide variety of exposure strengths, durations, conditions, frequencies, time between exposures, assessment methods, measurement systems, replications efforts, and adequate dosimetry. In the older laboratory studies the interpretation of results needs to be filtered by the consideration of a lack of control of temperature. In the other studies the balance of experimental evidence points towards a non-thermal effect of RF-EMF exposure. In field studies additional confusion might be caused by the simultaneous exposure to multiple field strengths and frequencies and other environmental confounding variables. A similar conclusion can be drawn for those laboratory studies that did not adequately control the exposure to other sources of electromagnetic fields, in which the influence of other variables on the result was also usually not handled in the design or in the analysis.

The plotting of the size of the ecologically relevant effects in relationship to the dose conditions applied did not seem to define a trend. Thus, the result of the graphical meta-analysis leads to no definitive conclusions about whether the effects are real, not real, or can be found only under certain conditions. The study of the differences between significant and non-significant studies presented in Section 5 revealed differences in the duration of the exposure of the target subjects, in the selection of the frequency band of exposure and in the impact score of the journals where articles were published.

Potential further sources of bias should be further examined using tools such as *funnel* or *forest* plots (Egger et al., 1997; Peters et al., 2006, 2008). These might reveal asymmetries due to: location biases (e.g. language bias, citation bias and multiple publication bias), heterogeneity (e.g. intensity of intervention and differences in odds ratios), data irregularities (e.g. poor or inadequate analysis), poor choice of effect measure, and chance.

At the current state of our knowledge, it is possible to conclude that there is an urgent need for repetitions of experiments and field studies by other research groups and under other (standard) situations and setup in order to confirm the presence/absence of effects. We, once again, refer to the ICNIRP statement of (2010), suggesting that results can only be accepted 'for health risk assessment if a complete description of the experimental technique and dosimetry are provided, all data are fully analysed and completely objective, results show a high level of statistical significance, are quantifiable and susceptible to independent confirmation, and the same effects can be reproduced by independent laboratories' (Repacholi and Cardis, 1997). If the significant conclusions found by studies are confirmed, they will be important for a mechanistic understanding of the interaction of RF fields with ecosystems.

In the synthesis the requirements to conduct an adequate study of the (ecological) effects of RF-EMF have been described in detail. Advances in dosimetric investigations in terms of precision and resolution were appreciable in some of the more recent studies, while standards seemed to be totally neglected in others. The application of the suggested *best practice* would allow to handle the information on the reported effect or absence of effect with greater precision. Our review highlights that there is a clear need for the study of the effects of RF-EMF on more species and organisms and, by means of field studies, on populations and interactions between species. Studies at the ecosystem level should start from the consideration of micro-ecosystems and micro-cosmos, which would allow for laboratory results to be more informative and ecologically-relevant, also at a policy level.

The number of experiments assessing new technologies is limited: only 5 matched the ecological criteria set in this review. Experiments evaluating the impact of newer wireless technologies (e.g. WiMAX, WLAN and WiFi), together with studies analysing new generations of mobile phone technologies (e.g. 3G and 4G) would shade some light on the impact of these technologies for ecosystems. To our knowledge solely the study on mice by Lee et al. (2009) investigated the possible impacts of these technologies. In order to minimise the uncertainties as efficiently as possible a number of situations with limited number of studies should be investigated: the long-term monitoring of selected species and/or ecosystems, field studies under a controlled system of exposure, laboratory studies following given recommendations, and studies on important ecological groups, other than those here analysed, would be a solid base on which to focus future studies.

Acknowledgements

This review has been possible thanks to the funding granted by the National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM) of The Netherlands. The authors report no conflict of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper. Martina G. Vijver is supported via the VENI-grant 863.08.023 given by the NWO (The Netherlands).

Appendix A

Keywords for literature screening

Main search strategy

RF-EMF OR SAR OR electromagnetic OR "power density" OR "internal electric field" OR "current density" OR non-ionising OR non-ionising OR RF OR "electric field" OR "magnetic field" OR Wi-Max OR WiMax OR W-LAN OR WiFi OR Wi-Fi OR modulation OR DCS OR GSM OR FM OR UMTS OR AM OR television OR TV or FM or AM or radio OR transmitter OR broadcast OR antenna OR aerial OR "base station" OR phone OR wireless OR DECT OR TETRA OR radar OR phone mast AND reproduction OR fecundity OR mortality OR behaviour OR behaviour OR activity OR density OR growth OR navigation OR orientation OR eco* OR malformation OR insect OR honey bee OR bee OR bat OR fruit fly OR mammal OR plant OR fauna OR biodiversity OR community OR population OR wild-life OR animal OR organism OR tree OR plant OR fish OR invertebrates OR fauna OR flora OR fungi OR birds OR vegetation.

References

- Abraçado LG, Esquivel DMS, Alves OC, Wajnberg E. Magnetic material in head, thorax, and abdomen of *Solenopsis substituta* ants: a ferromagnetic resonance study. J Magn Reson 2005;175:309–16.
- Adair ER. Thermophysiologic effects of electromagnetic radiation. In: Gandhi OP, editor. Biological effects and medical applications of electromagnetic energy. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1990.
- Aldad TS, Gan G, Gao XB, Taylor HS. Fetal radiofrequency radiation exposure from 800–1900 MHz-rated cellular telephones affects neurodevelopment and behavior in mice. Sci Rep 2012;2:312.
- Balmori A. Possible effects of electromagnetic fields from phone masts on a population of White stork (*Ciconia ciconia*). Electromagn Biol Med 2005;24:109–19.
- Balmori A. Electromagnetic pollution from phone masts. Effects on wildlife. Pathophysiology 2009;16(2–3):191–9.
- Balmori A. Mobile phone mast effects on common frog (*Rana temporaria*) tadpoles: the city turned into a laboratory. Electromagn Biol Med 2010;29:31–5.
- Balmori A, Hallberg Ö. The urban decline of the house sparrow (Passer domesticus): a possible link with electromagnetic radiation. Electromagn Biol Med 2007;26:141–51.

- Balodis VG, Brumelis K, Kalviskis O, Nikodemus D, Tjarve VZ. Does the Skrundra radio location station diminish the radial growth of pine trees? Sci Total Environ 1996;180: 57–64.
- Baranski S, Czerski P. Biological effects of microwaves. Stroudsburg: Dowden, Hutchinson & Ross; 1976.
- Bastide M, Youbicier-Simo BJ, Lebecq JC, Giaimis J. Toxicological study of electromagnetic radiation emitted by television and video display screens and cellular telephones on chickens and mice. Indoor Built Environ 2001;10:291–8.
- Batellier F, Couty I, Picard D, Brillard JP. Effects of exposing chicken eggs to a cell phone in 'call' position over the entire incubation period. Theriogenology 2008;69: 737–45.
- Beers J. Biological effects of weak electromagnetic fields from 0 Hz to 200 MHz: a survey of the literature with special emphasis on possible magnetic resonance effects. Magn Reson Imaging 1989;7:309–31.
- Begon M, Townsend CR, Harper JL. Ecology: from individuals to ecosystems. 4th ed. Hoboken, New Jersey, USA: Wiley-Blackwell; 2005.
- Berman E, Kinn JB, Carter HB. Observations of mouse foetuses after irradiation with 2.45 GHz microwaves. Health Phys 1978;35:791–801.
- Berman E, Carter HB, House D. Tests of mutagenesis and reproduction in male rats exposed to 2,450-MHz (CW) microwaves. Bioelectromagnetics 1980;1:65–76.
- Berman E, Weil C, Phillips PA, Carter HB, House DE. Foetal and maternal effects of continual exposure of rats to 970-MHz circularly-polarized microwaves. Electro Magnetobiol 1992;11(1):43–54.
- Bornhausen M, Scheingraber H. Prenatal exposure to 900 MHz cell phone electromagnetic fields had no effect on operant-behaviour performances of adult rats. Bioelectromagnetics 2000;21:566–74.
- Bouji M, Lecomte A, Hode Y, de Seze R, Villegier AS. Effects of 900 MHz radiofrequency on corticosterone, emotional memory and neuroinflammation in middle-aged rats. Exp Gerontol 2012;47(6):444–51.
- Bryan TE, Gildersleeve RP. Effects of nonionizing radiation on birds. Comp Biochem Physiol 1988;89:511–30.
- Byman D, Battista SP, Wasserman FE, Kunz TH. Effect of microwave irradiation (2.45 GHz, CW) on egg weight loss, egg hatchability, and hatchling growth of the *Coturnix* quail. Bioelectromagnetics 1985;6:271–82.
- Cabe PA, McRee DI. Behavioral teratological effects of microwave radiation in Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). An exploratory study. Neurobehav Toxicol 1980;2: 291–6.
- Cammaerts MC, De Doncker P, Patris X, Bellens F, Rachidi Z, Cammaerts D. GSM 900 MHz radiation inhibits ants' association between food sites and encountered cues. Electromagn Biol Med 2012;31(2):151–65.
- Carpenter RL, Biddle DK, Van Ummersen CA. Biological effects of microwave radiation with particular reference to the eye. Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Medical Electronics. London: Medical Electronics; 1960. p. 401–8.
- Cassel JC, Cosquer B, Galani R, Kuster N. Whole-body exposure to 2.45 GHz electromagnetic fields does not alter radial-maze performance in rats. Behav Brain Res 2004;155: 37–43.
- Chen G, Lu D, Chiang H, Leszczynski D, Xu Z. Using model organism Saccharomyces cerevisiae to evaluate the effects of ELF-MF and RF-EMF exposure on global gene expression. Bioelectromagnetics 2012;33(7):550–60.
- Chernovetz ME, Justesen DR, King NW, Wagner JE. Teratology, survival, and reversal learning after foetal irradiation of mice by 2450-MHz microwave energy. J Microw Power 1975;10(4):391–409.
- Clarke RL,1978. Behavioral, ethological, and teratological effects of electromagnetic radiation on an avian species. Ph.D. dissertation Department of Psychology, University of Kansas.
- Cobb BL, Jauchem JR, Adair ER. Radial arm maze performance of rats following repeated low level microwave radiation exposure. Bioelectromagnetics 2004;25:49–57.
- Cosquer B, Galani R, Kuster N, Cassel JC. Whole-body exposure to 2.45 GHz electromagnetic fields does not alter anxiety responses in rats: a plus-maze study including test validation. Behav Brain Res 2005;156(1):65–74.
- Collins D, Smith C. 3G Wireless Networks. McGraw-Hill; 2001.
- Crutzen PJ, Stoermer EF. The Anthropocene. Glob Change Newsl 2000;41:17–8. D'Andrea JA, Cobb BL, de Lorge JO. Lack of behavioral effects in the rhesus monkey: high
- peak microwave pulses at 1.3 GHz. Bioelectromagnetics 1989;10(1):65–76. Daniells C, Duce I, Thomas D, Sewell P, Tattersall J, de Pomerai DI. Transgenic nem-
- atodes as biomonitors of microwave-induced stress. Mutat Res 1998;399(1): 55–64. Daniels WM, Pitout IL, Afullo TJ, Mabandla MV. The effect of electromagnetic radiation
- in the mobile phone range on the behaviour of the rat. Metab Brain Dis 2009;24(4):629–41.
- Dasdag S, Akdag MZ, Ulukaya E, Uzunlar AK, Yegin D. Mobile phone exposure does not induce apoptosis on spermatogenesis in rats. Arch Med Res 2008;39(1): 40–4.
- Davidson JA, Kondra PA, Hamid MAK. Effects of microwave radiation on eggs, embryos and chickens. Can J Anim Sci 1976;56:709–13.
- de Pomerai DI, Dawe A, Djerbib L, Allan J, Brunt G, Daniells C. Growth and maturation of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* following exposure to weak microwave fields. Enzyme Microb Technol 2002;30(1):73–9.
- Dulbinskaya DA. Effect of constant magnetic field on growth of maize seedlings. Fiziol Rast 1973;20(1):183–6.
- Egger M, Davey-Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple graphical test. BMJ 1997;315:629–34.
- EU. The potential dangers of electromagnetic fields and their effect on the environment report of the committee on the Environment, Agriculture and Local and Regional Affairs. available online at http://assembly.coe.int/documents/workingdocs/doc11/ edoc12608.pdf 2011. [last accessed 18 April 2012].

- EU Commission implantation Reports. Report on the implementation of the Council Recommendation on the limitation of exposure of the general public to electromagnetic fields (0 Hz–300 GHz). available online at http://ec.europa.eu/health/ electromagnetic_fields/docs/bipro_staffpaper_en.pdf 2008. [last accessed 18 April 2012].
- Everaert J, Bauwens D. A possible effect of electromagnetic radiation from mobile phone base stations on the number of breeding house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). Electromagn Biol Med 2007;26:63–72.

Favre D. Mobile phone-induced honeybee worker piping. Apidologie 2011;42:270–9.

- Fisher PD, Lauber JK, Voss WAG. The effect of low-level 2450-MHz CW microwave radiation and body temperature on early embryonic development in chickens. Radio Sci 1979;14:159–63.
- Foster KR, Repacholi MH. Biological effects of radiofrequency fields: does modulation matter? Radiat Res 2004;162:219–25.
- Fragopoulou AF, Miltiadous P, Stamatakis A, Stylianopoulou F, Koussoulakos SL, Margaritis LH. Whole body exposure with GSM 900 MHz affects spatial memory in mice. Pathophysiology 2010;17:179–87.
- Gallai N, Salles JM, Settele J, Vaissieres BE. Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. Ecol Econ 2009;68:810–21.
- Gathiram P, Kistnasamy B, Lalloo U. Effects of a unique electromagnetic field system on the fertility of rats. Arch Environ Occup Health 2009;64(2):93-100.
- Giarola AJ, Krueger WF. Continuous exposure of chicks and rats to electromagnetic fields. IEEE Trans Microwave Theory Tech 1974;22:432–7.
- Gildersleeve RP, Galvin MJ, McRee DI, Thaxton JP, Parkhurst CR. Reproduction of Japanese quail after microwave irradiation during embryogeny. Bioelectromagnetics 1987;8:9-21.
- Glaser PE. Power from the sun: its future. Science 1968;162:857-86.
- Gos P, Eicher B, Kohli J, Heyer WD. No mutagenic or recombinogenic effects of mobile phone fields at 900 MHz detected in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Bioelectromagnetics 2000;21(7):515–23.
- Grigoryev Y. Biological effects of mobile phone electromagnetic field on chick embryo (risk assessment using the mortality rate). Radiats Biol Radioecol 2003;43:541–3.
- Grospietsch T, Schulz O, Hoelzel R, Lamprecht I, Kramer KD. Stimulating effects of modulated 150 MHz electromagnetic fields on the growth of Escherichia coli in a cavity resonator. Bioelectrochem Bioenerg 1995;37(1):17–23.
- Haider T, Knasmueller S, Kundi M, Haider M. Clastogenic effects of radiofrequency radiation on chromosomes of *Tradescantia*. Mutat Res 1994;324:65–8.
- Hamrick PE, McRee DI. Exposure of the Japanese quail embryo to 2.45 GHz microwave radiation during the second day of development. J Microw Power 1975;10:211–21.
- Hao D, Yang L, Chen S, Tong J, Tian Y, Su B, et al. Effects of long-term electromagnetic field exposure on spatial learning and memory in rats. Neurol Sci 2012;1–8.
- Harst W, Kuhn J, Stever H. Can electromagnetic exposure cause a change in behavior? Studying possible non thermal influences on honey bees — an approach within the framework of educational informatics. Acta Systematica — IIAS Int J 2006;6:1–6.
- Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of intervention. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2006.
- Hills GA, Kondra PA, Hamid MAK. Effects of microwave radiations on hatchability and growth in chickens and turkeys. Can J Anim Sci 1974;54:573–8.
- ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-ionising Radiation Protection). Statement guidelines for limiting exposure to time-varying electric, magnetic, and electromagnetic fields (1 Hz-100 kHz). Health Phys 2010;99:818-36.
- ICNIRP (International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection). Guidelines for limiting exposure to time-varying electric, magnetic, and electromagnetic fields (up to 300 GHz). Health Phys 1998;74(4):494–522.
- Imai N, Kawabe M, Hikage T, Nojima T, Takahashi S, Shirai T. Effects on rat testis of 1.95-GHz W-CDMA for IMT-2000 cellular phones. Syst Biol Reprod Med 2011;57(4):204–9.
- Inouye M, Galvin MJ, McRee DI. Effects of 2.45 GHz microwave radiation on the development of Japanese quail cerebellum. Teratology 1982;25:115–21.
- Jensh RP. Behavioral teratological studies using microwave radiation: is there an increased risk from exposure to cellular phones and microwave ovens? Reprod Toxicol 1997;11:601–11.
- Jensh RP, Weinberg I, Brent RL. Teratologic studies of prenatal exposure of rats to 915-MHz microwave radiation. Radiat Res 1982;92:160–71.
- Jiang B, Nie J, Zhou Z, Zhang J, Tong J, Cao Y. Adaptive response in mice exposed to 900 MHz radiofrequency fields: primary DNA damage. PLoS One 2012;7(2):e32040.
- Jinapang P, Prakob P, Wongwattananard P, Islam NE, Kirawanich P. Growth characteristics of mung beans and water convolvuluses exposed to 425-MHz electromagnetic fields. Bioelectromagnetics 2010;31(7):519.
- JRC WEB (Journal Citation Reports). Thomson Reuters. available online at http:// thomsonreuters.com/products_services/science/science_products/a-z/journal_citation_ reports/ 2012. [last accessed 14 April 2012].
- Juutilainen J. Developmental effects of electromagnetic fields. Bioelectromagnetics 2005;7:107–15.
- Keeton WT. Magnets interfere with pigeon homing. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1971;68:102–6. Kesari KK, Kumar S, Behari J. 900-MHz microwave radiation promotes oxidation in rat brain. Electromagn Biol Med 2011;30(4):219–34.
- Khillare B, Behari J. Effect of amplitude-modulated radiofrequency radiation on reproduction pattern in rats. Electro Magnetobiol 1998;17(1):43–55.
- Kimmel S, Kuhn J, Harst W, Stever H. Effects of electromagnetic exposition on the behavior of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). Environ Syst Res 2007;8:1–6.
- Kirschvink JL, Walker MM, Diebel C. Magnetite-based magnetoreception. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2001;11:462–7.
- Klein AM, Vaissière B, Cane JH, Steffan-Dewenter I, Cunningham SA, Kremen C, et al. Importance of crop pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Proc R Soc Lond Ser 2007;274:303–13.
- Kleinhaus S, Pinshow B, Frumkin R. Thermal effects of short radio-waves on migrating birds. Ecol Appl 1995;5:672–9.

- Klug S, Hetscher M, Giles S, Kohlsman S, Kramer K. The lack of effects of nonthermal RF electromagnetic fields on the development of rat embryos grown in culture. Life Sci 1997;61:1789–802.
- Knight K. Cockroaches use radical pair mechanism to detect magnetism. J Exp Biol 2009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jeb.038935. [212:iii].
- Kowalczuk CI, Saunders RD, Stapleton HR. Sperm count and sperm abnormality in male mice after exposure to 2.45 GHz microwave radiation. Mutat Res Lett 1983;122(2): 155–61.
- Krizaj D, Valencic V. The effect of ELF magnetic fields and temperature on differential plant growth. J Bioelec 1989;8(2):159–65.
- Krueger WF, Giarola AJ, Bradley JW, Shrekenhamer A. Effects of electromagnetic fields on fecundity in the chicken. In: Tyler P, editor. Biologic effects of nonionizing radiation. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.New York: New York Academy of Sciences; 1975. p. 391–400.
- Kumar NR, Sangwan S, Badotra P. Exposure to cell phone radiations produces biochemical changes in worker honey bees. Toxicol Int 2011;18(1):70–2.
- Kumlin T, livonen H, Miettenen P, Junoven A, van Groen T, Puranen L, et al. Mobile phone radiation and the developing brain: behavioral and morphological effects in juvenile rats. Radiat Res 2007;168:471–9.
- Kwak MM, Velterop O, Van Andel J. Pollen and gene flow in a fragmented habitat. Appl Veg Sci 1998;1:37–54.
- Lai H, Horita A, Guy AW. Microwave irradiation affects radial-arm maze performance in the rat. Bioelectromagnetics 1994;15:95-104.
- Lary JM, Conover DL, Johnson PH. Absence of embryo-toxic effects from low-level (nonthermal) exposure of rats to 100 MHz radiofrequency radiation. Scand J Work Environ Health 1983;9(2):120–7.
- Lebovitz RM, Johnson L, Samson WK. Acute, whole-body microwave exposure and testicular function of rats. Bioelectromagnetics 1987a;8(1):37–43.
- Lebovitz RM, Johnson L, Samson WK. Effects of pulse-modulated microwave radiation and conventional heating on sperm production. J Appl Physiol 1987b;62(1):245–52.
- Lee HJ, Lee JS, Pack JK, Choi HD, Kim N, Kim SH, et al. Lack of teratogenicity after combined exposure of pregnant mice to CDMA and WCDMA radiofrequency electromagnetic fields. Radiat Res 2009;172(5):648–52.
- Lee HJ, Jin YB, Kim TH, Pack JK, Kim N, Choi HD, et al. The effects of simultaneous combined exposure to CDMA and WCDMA electromagnetic fields on rat testicular function. Bioelectromagnetics 2012;33(4):356–64.
- Liedvogel M, Mouritsen H. Cryptochromes a potential magnetoreceptor: what do we know and what do we want to know? J R Soc Interface 2010;7(2):147–62.
- Magone I. The effect of electromagnetic radiation from the Skrunda Radio Location Station on Spirodela polyrhiza (L.) Schleiden cultures. Sci Total Environ 1996;180: 75–80.
- Magras IN, Xenos TD. RF radiation-induced changes in the prenatal development of mice. Bioelectromagnetics 1997;18:455–61.
- Mailankot M, Kunnath AP, Jayalekshmi H, Koduru B, Valsalan R. Radio frequency electromagnetic radiation (RF-EMR) from GSM (0.9/1.8GHz) mobile phones induces oxidative stress and reduces sperm motility in rats. Clinics 2009;6(6):561–5.
- Maskey D, Kim M, Aryal B, Pradhan J, Choi IY, Park KS, et al. Effect of 835 MHz radiofrequency radiation exposure on calcium binding proteins in the hippocampus of the mouse brain. Brain Res 2010;1313:232–41.
- Mathur R. Effect of chronic intermittent exposure to AM radiofrequency field on responses to various types of noxious stimuli in growing rats. Electromagn Biol Med 2008;27(3):266–76.
- McRee DI, Hamrick PE. Exposure of Japanese quail embryos to 2.45 GHz microwave radiation during development. Radiat Res 1977;71:355–66.
- McRee DI, Hamrick PE, Zinki J, Thaxton P, Parkhurst CR. Some effects of exposure of the Japanese quail embryo to 2.45 GHz microwave radiation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1975;247:377–90.
- McRee DI, Thaxton JP, Parkhurst CR. Reproduction in male Japanese quail exposed to microwave radiation during embryogeny. Radial. Res. 1983;96:51–8.
- Michaelson SM. Biological effects of radiofrequency radiation: concepts and criteria. Health Phys 1991;61(1):3-14.
- Michaelson SM, Dodge CH. Soviet views on the biological effects of microwaves and analysis. Health Phys 1971;21:108–11.
- Morris R. Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. J Neurosci Methods 1984;11(1):47–60.
- Nawrot PS, McRee DI, Galvin MJ. Teratogenic, biochemical, and histological studies with mice prenatally exposed to 2.45-GHz microwave radiation. Radiat Res 1985;102(1): 35–45.
- NCRP. Biological Effects and Exposure Criteria for Radiofrequency Electromagnetic Fields. National Council for Radiation Protection and Measurements; 1986. 400 pp.
- Nicholls B, Racey PA. The aversive effect of electromagnetic radiation on foraging bats: a possible means of discouraging bats from approaching wind turbines. PLoS One 2009;4(7):e6246.
- Nikolova T, Czyz J, Rolletschek A, Blyszczuk P, Fuchs J, Jovtchev G, et al. Electromagnetic fields affect transcript levels of apoptosis-related genes in embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitor cells. FASEB J 2005;19:1686–8.
- Nittby H, Grafström G, Tian DP, Malmgren L, Brun A, Persson BRR, et al. Cognitive impairment in rats after long-term exposure to GSM-900 mobile phone radiation. Bioelectromagnetics 2008;29:219–32.
- Nittby H, Moghadam MK, Sun W, Malmgren L, Eberhardt J, Persson BR, et al. Analgetic effects of non-thermal GSM-1900 radiofrequency electromagnetic fields in the land snail Helix pomatia. Int J Radiat Biol 2012;88(3):245–52.
- Ozlem Nisbet OH, Nisbet C, Akar A, Cevik M, Onder Karayigit M. Effects of exposure to electromagnetic field (1.8/0.9GHz) on testicular function and structure in growing rats. Res Vet Sci 2012;93(2):1001–5.
- Panagopoulos DJ. Effect of microwave exposure on the ovarian development of Drosophila melanogaster. Cell Biochem Biophys 2012;63(2):121–32.

- Panagopoulos DJ, Margaritis LH. The effect of exposure duration on the biological activity of mobile telephony radiation. Mutat Res 2010;699(2):17–22.
- Panagopoulos DJ, Karabarbounis A, Margaritis LH. Effect of GSM 900 MHz mobile phone radiation on the reproductive capacity of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Electromagn Biol Med 2004;23:29–43.
- Panagopoulos DJ, Chavdoula ED, Karabarbournis A, Margaritis LH. Comparison of bioactivity between GSM 900 MHz and DCS 1800 MHz mobile telephony radiation. Electromagn Biol Med 2007;26:33–44.
- Panagopoulos DJ, Chavdoula ED, Margaritis LH. Bioeffects of mobile telephony radiation in relation to its intensity or distance from the antenna. Int J Radiat Biol 2010;86(5):345–57.
- Peters JL, Sutton AJ, Jones DR, Abrams KR, Rushton L. Comparison of two methods to detect publication bias in meta-analysis. JAMA 2006;295:676–80.
- Peters JL, Sutton AJ, Jones DR, Abrams KR, Rushton L. Contour-enhanced meta-analysis funnel plots help distinguish publication bias from other causes of asymmetry. J Clin Epidemiol 2008;61:991–6.
- Pittman UJ. Magnetism and plant growth. Effect on germination and early growth of corn and beans. Can J Plant Sci 1965;45:549–55.
- Poulletier de Gannes F, Haro E, Hurtier A, Taxile M, Athane A, Ait-Aissa S, et al. Effect of in utero Wi-Fi exposure on the pre- and postnatal development of rats. Res. B. Dev. Reprod. Toxicol. 2012;95(2):130–6.
- Pourlis AF. Reproductive and developmental effects of EMF in vertebrate animal models. Pathophysiology 2009;16:179–89.
- Ratnieks FLW, Carreck NL. Clarity on honey bee collapse? Science 2010;327:152-3.
- Reijt L, Mazgajski T, Kubacki R, Kieliszek J, Sobiczewska E, Szmigielski S. Influence of radar radiation on breeding biology of tits (*Parus* sp). Electromagn Biol Med 2007;26:235–8. Repacholi MH, Cardis E. Criteria for EMF health risk assessment. Radiat Prot Dosim
- 1997;72:305–12. Ribeiro EP, Rhoden EL, Horn MM, Rhoden C, Lima LP, Toniolo L. Effects of sub chronic
- exposure to radio frequency from a conventional cellular telephone on testicular function in adult rats. J Urol 2007;177:395–9.
- Ritz T, Dommer DH, Phillips JB. Shedding light on vertebrate magnetoreception. Neuron 2002;34:503–6.
- Roux D, Vian A, Girard S, Bonnet P, Paladian F, Davies E, et al. Electromagnetic fields (900 MHz) evoke consistent molecular responses in tomato plants. Physiol Plant 2006;128:283–8.
- Roux D, Vian A, Girard S, Bonnet P, Paladian F, Davies E, et al. High frequency (900 MHz) low amplitude (5 V m⁻¹) electromagnetic field: a genuine environmental stimulus that affects transcription, translation, calcium and energy charge in tomato. Planta 2007;227:883–91.
- Ružič R, Jerman I, Gogala N. Water stress reveals effects of ELF magnetic fields on the growth of seedlings. Electro Magnetobiol 1998;17:17–30.
- Sahib SS. Impact of mobile phones on the density of honeybees. J Public Adm Policy Res 2011;3(4):131.
- Salama N, Kishimoto T, Kanayama HO. Effects of exposure to a mobile phone on testicular function and structure in adult rabbit. Int J Androl 2010a;33(1):88–94.
- Salama N, Kishimoto T, Kanayama HO, Kagawa S. Effects of exposure to a mobile phone on sexual behavior in adult male rabbit: an observational study. Int J Impot Res 2010b;22(2):127–33.
- Salford LG, Brun AE, Eberhardt JL, Malmgren L, Persson BRR. Nerve cell damage in mammalian brain after exposure to microwaves from GSM mobile phones. Environ Health Perspect 2003;7:881–3.
- Sarookhani MR, Asiabanha Rezaei M, Safari A, Zaroushani V, Ziaeiha M. The influence of 950 MHz magnetic field (mobile phone radiation) on sex organ and adrenal functions of male rabbits. Afr J Biochem Res 2011;5(2):65–8.
- Savostin PW. Magnetic growth relations in plants. Planta 1930;12:327.
- SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks). Health effects of exposure to EMF European Commission. Available online at http://ec.europa.eu/ health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/scenihr_o_022.pdf 2008. [last accessed: 18 April 2012].
- Schacker M. A spring without bees: how colony collapse disorder has endangered our food supply. Guilford: Globe Pequot; 2008.
- Schmutz P, Siegenthaler J, Staeger C, Tarjan D, Bucher JB. Long-term exposure of young spruce and beech trees to 2450-MHz microwave radiation. Sci Total Environ 1996;180(1):43-8.
- Schwartz JL, Philogene BJR, Stewart JG, Mealing GA, Duval FM. Chronic exposure of the tobacco hornworm to pulsed microwaves – effects of development. J Microw Power 1985;20(3):85–93.
- Selga T, Selga M. Response of Pinus sylvestris L. needles to electromagnetic fields. Cytological and ultra-structural aspects. Sci Total Environ 1996;180:65–73.
- Sharma VP, Kumar NR. Changes in honeybee behaviour and biology under the influence of cell phone radiations. Curr Sci 2010;98:1376–8.
- Sharma VP, Singh HP, Kohli RK, Batish DR. Mobile phone radiation inhibits Vigna radiata (mung bean) root growth by inducing oxidative stress. Sci Total Environ 2009;407(21):5543–7.
- Sherry CJ, Blick DW, Walters TJ, Brown GC, Murphy MR. Lack of behavioral effects in non-human primates after exposure to ultra-wideband electromagnetic radiation in the microwave frequency range. Radiat Res 1995;143(1):93–7.
- Sienkiewicz ZJ, Blackwell RP, Haylock RG, Saunders RD, Cobb BL. Low-level exposure to pulsed 900 MHz microwave radiation does not cause deficits in the performance of a spatial learning task in mice. Bioelectromagnetics 2000;21(3):151–8.
- Soltani F, Kashi A, Arghavani M. Effect of magnetic field on Asparagus originalis L seed germinaton and seedling growth. Seed Sci Technol 2006;34(2):349–53.
- Sommer AM, Grote K, Reinhardt T, Streckert J, Hansen V, Lerchl A. Effects of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields (UMTS) on reproduction and development of mice: a multi-generation study. Radiat Res 2009;171(1):89–95.

Stam R. Electromagnetic fields and the blood-brain barrier. Brain Res Rev 2010;65:80-97. Tanner JA. Effect of microwave on birds. Nature 1966;210:636.

Tanner JA, Romero-Sierra C. Beneficial and harmful accelerated growth induced by the action of nonionizing radiation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1974:238:171-5.

- Thalau P, Ritz T, Stapput K, Wiltschko R, Wiltschko W. Magnetic compass orientation of migratory birds in the presence of a 1.315 MHz oscillating field. Naturwissenschaften 2005;92:86–90.
- Tkalec M, Malarić K, Pevalek-Kozlina B. Influence of 400, 900 and 1900 MHz electromagnetic fields on *Lemna minor* growth and peroxidase activity. Bioelectromagnetics 2005;26:185–93.
- Tkalec M, Malarik K, Pevalek-Kozlina B. Exposure to radiofrequency radiation induces oxidative stress in duckweed *Lemna minor*. Sci Total Environ 2007;388:78–89.
- Urech M, Eicher B, Siegenthaler J. Effects of microwave and radio frequency electromagnetic fields on lichens. Bioelectromagnetics 1996;17:327–34.
- Ursache M, Mindru G, Creangă DE, Tufescu FM, Goiceanu C. The effects of high frequency electromagnetic waves on the vegetal organisms. Rom J Physiol 2009;54(1):133–45.
- U.S. Department of Energy. A Selective Review of the Literature on Biological Effects of Microwaves in Relation to the Satellite Power System (SPS). USA: U.S. Department of Energy; 1978 (Available online at: http://www.osti.gov/bridge/index.jsp, last accessed 12 July 2012).
- Vacha M, Puzova T, Kvicalova M. Radio frequency magnetic fields disrupt magnetoreception in American cockroach. J Exp Biol 2009;212(Pt 21):3473–7.
- Van Deventer E, van Rongen E, Saunders R. WHO research agenda for radiofrequency fields. Bioelectromagnetics 2011;32:417–42.
- Van Ummersen CA. The effect of 2450 MHz radiation on the development of the chick embryo. Proceedings of the 4th tri-service conference biological effects of microwave radiation, vol. 1. N. Y: Plenum; 1961. p. 201–19.
- Van Ummersen CA, 1963. An experimental study of developmental abnormalities induced in the chick embryo by exposure to radio frequency waves. Ph.D. Dissertation, Tufts University, Medford, UK.
- Verschaeve L, Maes A. Genetic, carcinogenic and teratogenic effects of radiofrequency fields. Mutat Res 1998;410:141–65.
- Vrhovac R, Hrascan J, Franekic A. Effect of 905 MHz microwave radiation on colony growth of the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains FF18733, FF1481 and D7. Radiol Oncol 2010;44:131–4.

- Wajnberg E, Acosta-Avalos D, Alves OC, de Oliveira JF, Srygley RB, Esquivel DM. Magnetoreception in eusocial insects: an update. J R Soc Interface 2010;7:S207–25. Wasserman FE, Dowd C, Schlinger B, Kunz T, Battista S. The effects of microwave radi-
- ation on avian dominance behaviour. Bioelectromagnetics 1984;5:331–9. Weisbrot D, Lin H, Ye L, Blank M, Goodman R. Effects of mobile phone radiation on reproduction and dovelopment in Dresenbile melanograture LColl Piechom 2002;80:
- reproduction and development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Cell Biochem 2003;89: 48–55. Westerdahl BB, Gary NE. Longevity and food consumption of microwave-treated (2.45
- GHz CW) honeybees in the laboratory. Bioelectromagnetics 1981a;2(4):305–14. Westerdahl BB, Gary NE. Flight, orientation, and homing abilities of honeybees follow-
- ing exposure to 2.45-GHz CW microwaves. Bioelectromagnetics 1981b;2:71-5. WHO. Research agenda for radio frequency fields. Geneva Switzerland: WHO International EMF Project. Available online at http://www.who.int.ezproxy.leidenuniv. nl:2048/peh-emf/research/rf_research_agenda_2006.pdf 2006. [last accessed 13 December 2011].
- WHO. Research agenda for radiofrequency fields. Available online at http://whqlibdoc.who. int/publications/2010/9789241599948_eng.pdf 2010. [last accessed: 18 April 2012].
- Wiltschko W, Wiltschko R. Magnetic orientation in birds. J Exp Biol 1996;199:29–38. Wiltschko R, Denzau S, Gehring D, Thalau P, Wiltschko W. Magnetic orientation of migratory
- robins, *Erithacus rubecula*, under long-wavelength light. J Exp Biol 2001;214:3096–101. Winklhofer M. Magnetoreception. J R Soc Interface 2010;7:131–4.
- Yamaguchi H, Tsurita G, Ueno S, Watanabe S, Wake K, Taki M, et al. 1439 MHz pulsed TDMA fields affect performance of rats in a T-maze task only when body temperature is elevated. Bioelectromagnetics 2003;24(4):223–30.
- Yan JG, Agresti M, Bruce T, Yan YH, Granlund A, Matloub HS. Effects of cellular phone emissions on sperm motility in rats. Fertil Steril 2007;88:957–64.
- Yang XS, He GL, Hao YT, Xiao Y, Chen CH, Zhang GB, et al. Exposure to 2.45 GHz electromagnetic fields elicits an HSP-related stress response in rat hippocampus. Brain Res Bull 2012;88(4):371–8.
- Zalasiewicz J, Williams M, Steffen W, Crutzen P. The new world of the Anthropocene. Environ Sci Technol 2010;44(7):2228–31.
- Zhao R, Zhang S, Xu Z, Ju L, Lu D, Yao G. Studying gene expression profile of rat neuron exposed to 1800 MHz radiofrequency electromagnetic fields with cDNA microassay. Toxicology 2007;235:167–75.